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Consolidated cash flow statement Note 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Receipts from products and services sold 776 765  629 795

Expenditures for personnel (254 610) (215 357)

Expenditures for material and services received (365 793) (273 421)

Cash flow from operating activities 156 362  141 017 

Dividends from associated companies 6 057  4 418

Interest paid (1 011) (754)  

Interest received 4 319  1 550

Other financial income (1 282) 870

Income taxes paid (2 813) (27 108)

Discontinued operations (5 623) (3 698)

Cash flow from operations 156 009  116 295

Capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment (9 610) (5 854)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 2 943  8 731

Investment in consolidated companies 1 (218 290)  752 

Sale of consolidated companies 1 12 103  0

Investment in associated companies (6 665) (250)

Investment in other financial assets (6 224)1 (534)

Sale of other financial assets 6 983  3 040

Capital expenditures in intangible assets (1 293) (2 168)

Sale of intangible assets 312  167

Cash flow from/(for) investment activities (219 739)  3 884

Cash flow after investment activities (63 730)  120 179

Payment of dividends (30 000) (25 000)

Increase/(decrease) in current financial liabilities 40 7082 (181) 

Increase/(decrease) in long-term financial liabilities 3 861  (10 311)

Increase/(decrease) in other long-term liabilities 107  151

Net sale/(purchase) of treasury shares 248  (389)

Increase/(decrease) in minority interests (165) (150)

Cash flow (for)/from financing activities 14 759   (35 881)

Impact of foreign currency exchange (2) 0

Change in cash and cash equivalents (48 973) 84 298

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 136 024  51 726

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 87 050  136 024

Change in cash and cash equivalents (48 973) 84 298

1 Includes loans to Espace Media Groupe companies that were granted to such prior to the merger (1.10.2007).
2 Includes loans from Espace Media Groupe companies that were granted to Tamedia by such prior to the merger (1.10.2007).

The notes form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements.
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Changes in equity
in CHF 000 Share Treasury Retained Net income Valuation Reserves Equity, Minority Equity

capital shares earnings adjustments share- interests
on financial holders in equity

assets1 equity

Balance as of 31 December 2004 100 000 (558) 216 369 49 783 1 154 267 305 366 747 968 367 715 

Dividends paid 0 0 0 (15 000) 0 (15 000) (15 000) (180) (15 180)

Allocation of earnings 0 0 34 783 (34 783) 0 0 0 0 0  

Net income 0 0 0 79 418 0 79 418 79 418 322 79 740   

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 (471) 0 0 (471) (471) (421) (892)  

(Purchase)/sale of treasury shares 0 165 0 0 0 0 165 0 165   

Net adjustments of financial 
assets to market values 0 0 0 0 (759) (759) (759) 0 (759) 

Balance as of 31 December 2005 100 000 (394) 250 681 79 418 395 330 493 430 099 689 430 789   

Dividends paid 0 0 0 (25 000) 0 (25 000) (25 000) (150) (25 150)

Allocation of earnings 0 0 54 418 (54 418) 0 0 0 0 0   

Net income 0 0 0 98 485 0 98 485 98 485 (59) 98 427 

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 250 

(Purchase)/sale of treasury shares 0 (389) 0 0 0 0 (389) 0 (389)

Net adjustments of financial 
assets to market values 0 0 0 0 (395) (395) (395) 0 (395)

Balance as of 31 December 2006 100 000 (783) 305 098 98 485 0 403 583 502 800 731 503 531 

Dividends paid 0 0 0 (30 000) 0 (30 000) (30 000) (165) (30 165)

Allocation of earnings 0 0 68 485 (68 485) 0 0 0 0 0   

Increase in share capital 6 000 79 091 79 091 85 091 0 85 091   

Net income 0 0 0 142 470 0 142 470 142 470 517 142 987   

Change in consolidation scope 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 505 10 505 

(Purchase)/sale of treasury shares 0 248 0 0 0 0 248 0 248  

Impact of currency exchange 0 0 0 (2) 0 (2) (2) 0 (2)

Balance as of 31 December 2007 106 000 (535) 452 674 142 468 0 595 142 700 608 11 587 712 195 

1 Net after deferred taxes.

2 The change in the consolidation scope includes minority interests totalling CHF 73.7 million taken into account as a result of the first time consolidation of Espace Media Groupe. The purchase of an additional

17.2 per cent of shares in Espace Media Groupe in December 2007 reduced the minority interest shares by CHF 62.8 million.

The notes form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Consolidation and valuation principles

Consolidation principles

General comments

The consolidated financial statements of Tamedia AG, Zurich (Switzerland) and its
subsidiaries are prepared in compliance with Swiss law and in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They are based on the audited financial state-
ments of the consolidated companies as of 31 December, which were prepared
according to uniform accounting principles. All standards issued by the IASB and
all interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC), which were in effect as of the balance sheet date, were con-
sidered during preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of the financial statements requires that management and the
Board of Directors make estimates and assumptions which have an impact on the
amounts of the assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities, as well as the expenses
and income shown in the financial statements for the reporting period. These esti-
mates and assumptions not only take past experiences into account, but also
developments in the state of the economy and are mentioned wherever relevant
in the notes. They are subject to risks and uncertainties. The actual results may
deviate from these estimates. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors
on 11 April 2008. It is recommended that the Annual General Meeting of 27 June
2008 approves the consolidated financial statements.

In the notes, some individual figures from the previous year were adjusted to the
statement of the reporting year for the purposes of comparison.

Changes in accounting principles in 2007

In the year under review, various new and revised standards (IFRS) and inter-
pretations (IFRIC) found application for the first time. This report does not
include a detailed listing of all the new standards or revised versions of earlier
standards. However, the most significant effects are explained below.

In August 2005, the new standard IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments – Disclosures”
and the revised standard IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” were
published. IFRS 7 is a continuation of the disclosure regulations contained in 
the past in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and extends the require-
ments to include a qualitative and quantitative disclosure of risks from financial
instruments. The application of IAS 1 requires that additional details are
provided with regard to the objective, provisions and methods of managing
equity. These revisions have no impact on how the financial instruments are
approached and evaluated. 
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Impact of new accounting principles in 2008

In November 2006, the new standard IFRS 8 Operating Segments was published,
which will replace standard IAS Segment Reporting that has been used up until
now. IFRS 8 governs that amendments are made in the calculation and presen-
tation disclosed in segment reporting. This new standard will be applicable for
the first time as of 1 January 2009. 

The revised standard IAS 23 Borrowing Costs was published in March 2007.
Costs of borrowed capital incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of a
plant or the construction of such must now be capitalised, while up until now
the option was available to record such affecting net income. This standard will
also become applicable for the first time as of 1 January 2009. 

The new and revised standards (IFRS) and interpretations (IFRIC), which take
effect as of 1 January 2008 or later, will not be applied for earlier reporting dates.
The implementation is not expected to have any impact, and if so, only minimal
influence, on future consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation scope

All companies in which Tamedia AG holds either a direct or indirect interest of
50 per cent or more of the voting rights are consolidated. Group companies
acquired during the year are included in the consolidation as of their acquisi-
tion date, and Group companies sold are eliminated from the consolidation as
of the date of their sale.

Method of consolidation

Using the full consolidation method, the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
of Group companies, in which Tamedia AG directly or indirectly holds more than
50 per cent of voting rights, or exercises control in the financial and operational
decisions in any other fashion, are included in their entirety. The minority share-
holders’ equity and in earnings are itemised separately in the balance sheet and in
the income statement.

Jointly owned companies, in which Tamedia AG directly or indirectly holds 50 per
cent of voting rights, or exercises control in the financial and operational decisions
based on agreements entered into with partners, are consolidated on a quota con-
solidation basis.

Investments in companies, in which Tamedia AG directly or indirectly holds less
than 50 per cent of voting rights, and in which it does not exercise any control on
financial or operational decisions, are accounted for on a proportional basis using
the equity method or reported at fair values. The reporting of such in the consoli-
dated financial statements is explained accordingly under current and long-term
financial investments.

Capital consolidation

The interests held in consolidated companies are recorded using the purchase
method.



44

Tamedia Group

Goodwill and intangible assets

At the time of their initial consolidation, the assets and liabilities of a company –
or the net assets acquired – and the intangible assets are recorded at fair value. A
positive difference between the acquisition price and the equity calculated under
these principles is capitalised as goodwill in the year of acquisition. The goodwill
calculated in this manner is no longer amortised, but is instead subject to an
annual impairment test. If there are any indications of impairment in the value of
the goodwill, they are re-assessed and any exceptional write-offs required are
recognised. Any negative difference between the acquisition price and the
calculated equity is immediately recognised affecting net income. Apart from the
value for goodwill, the intangible assets, which are to be capitalised, are also
determined at the time of the initial consolidation.

When consolidated companies are sold, the difference between the sales price
and the net assets, as well as any goodwill not yet amortised, is reported in the
consolidated financial statements as investment income.

Intangible assets which, due to their nature, cannot be itemised separately, cannot
be capitalised individually when allocating the purchase price and thus affect an
increase in goodwill. These include, in particular, the brands and titles, if there is no
subscriber base, the intangible assets, which are not contractually and customer-
related, as well as the level of market shares. The following principles apply in this
regard.

Brand / Title / Subscriber and advertising customer base

The brand (or the “title”) of a medium is individually identifiable, but it forms, in
each case, an integral element of the published product and in many cases cannot
be valued separately. In the case of media products, the brand can therefore only
be valuated in conjunction with other intangible assets, as for example the sub-
scriber base and/or the advertising customer base. This value is summarised under
the description “Publishing right”. 

Market position

The position that a company or a product has within the market at the time a
purchase agreement is entered into is reflected in the purchase price that is
actually paid for the particular acquisition. This position is not separable per 
se and therefore cannot be valued. It forms an integral part of the goodwill
acquired.

Treatment of Group internal (intercompany) profits

Profits on intercompany sales not yet realised through sales to third parties as of
year-end as well as Group internal results on transfers of fixed assets and invest-
ments in subsidiaries are eliminated in the consolidation.
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Foreign currency conversion

The consolidated financial statements of Tamedia are presented in CHF. Receiv-
ables and payables reported in the balance sheet in foreign currency in the
individual financial statements are shown at the exchange rate applicable on
balance sheet date. Transactions made in foreign currency during the financial
year are recorded at the rate applicable for the month. The exchange rate differ-
ences are recorded affecting net income.

Valuation principles

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand, postal and bank account
balances as well as time deposits with a term of up to three months, and cheques,
recorded at their fair value.

Current financial assets

Current financial assets include marketable securities, time deposits as well as
demand deposits with an original maturity of more than three months but less
than twelve months, as well as current derivative financial instruments. 

Publicly traded marketable securities are carried at quoted market prices as 
of the balance sheet date. Securities not publicly traded are reported at fair 
value. Time and demand deposits are stated at fair value. For these items, as 
well as for marketable securities, all valuation differences – both realised and
unrealised – are recorded affecting net income with the exception of those
originating from derivative financial instruments, which are designated as
“accounting hedges” (see: “Valuation principles for derivative financial instru-
ments”). 

Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are valuated at their nominal value. Bad debt provi-
sions affecting net income are made for doubtful trade receivables. The general
risk is covered by a value adjustment, which is based on historical values.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at their purchase or production cost, determined by the
weighted average method, or with a maximum value of what is realisable on the
market minus any anticipated finishing and sales costs.

Value adjustments are made for slow-moving and obsolete items based on
economic criteria.

Property, plant and equipment

Such assets are assessed at the most based on amortised cost minus economically
necessary depreciation with the exception of developed land that is listed in the
balance sheet at purchase price.



46

Tamedia Group

Land and buildings that are not used operationally long-term more than 50 per
cent of the time are classified as non-operational real estate (investment properties).
The fair value of such properties, which is listed in the notes to the financial
statements, is determined periodically based on the discounted cash flow
method. The investment properties are valued in the same way as the operatio-
nal real estate, i.e. they are included in the balance sheet at their purchase cost. 

Leasehold improvement are capitalised and depreciated over the term of the
lease agreement, regardless of any option to extend the term of the agreement.
To the extent that the lease agreement requires that the property be restored to
its original condition upon termination of the agreement, regularly scheduled
provisions are made. The costs of maintenance and repairs that do not increase
the value of the asset are charged directly against net income.

Works of art are recorded in the balance sheet at their purchase price minus any
necessary adjustments for decreases in value.

With the exception of special write-offs required for business-related purposes,
depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over uniform useful lives estab-
lished within the Group.

The following amortisation periods apply:

Operational buildings 40 years
Non-operational real estate 40 years
Conversions and renovations 3–25 years
Leasehold improvements 3–25 years
Installations and constructional facilities 3–25 years
Machinery and equipment 3–15 years
Motor vehicles 4–10 years
Office equipment and furnishings 5–10 years 
IT systems 3–5 years

Long-term financial assets

Long-term financial assets include investments in associated companies, other
investments, long-term loans, financial assets held to maturity, long-term
derivative financial instruments and other long-term financial assets.

Investments in associated companies (i.e. companies in which Tamedia AG
directly or indirectly holds between 20 per cent and less than 50 per cent of 
the voting rights or where significant influence is exercisable in any other way)
are accounted for on a proportional basis using the equity method. Any of 
the Group’s share in losses exceeding the original investment is only recorded
if Tamedia is either legally obligated to do so or if it intends to share in 
the continued losses or to participate in ongoing financial restructuring or
initiate such.
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Other investments (for which less than 20 per cent of voting rights are held)
are stated at fair value. Unrealised gains – net after taxes – are recorded 
in equity. Declines in value due to impairment are recorded affecting net
income.

Long-term loans are valuated at their initial value. Financial assets held to 
maturity are stated at their amortised initial value.

Long-term derivative financial instruments (held for trading) are stated at fair
value. Both realised and unrealised gains and losses are recorded affecting net
income, with the exception of such derivative financial instruments designated
as “accounting hedges” (see: “Valuation principles for derivative financial in-
struments”).

Other long-term financial assets (available for sale) are also reported at their
fair value. Unrealised gains – net after taxes – are recorded in equity. Declines in
value due to impairment are recorded affecting net income.

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recorded at initial value and amortised using the
straight-line method over their anticipated useful lives. Intangible assets with an un-
limited useful life are reviewed annually with regard to impairment. Also reviewed
at the same time is whether the useful life is still unlimited. The costs of intangible
assets generated by the Group are added to the income statement as they arise.

The following amortisation periods apply:

Goodwill no amortisation
Publishing and brand rights 5–20 years
Capitalised software project costs 3–5 years

Non-separable brand rights as well as subscriber and/or advertising customer
bases are classified under the term “Publishing right”. 

Impairment of assets

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and other fixed assets 
are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value
of such assets may be impaired. The determination of the recoverability is 
based on estimates and assumptions made by management. As a result, it is
possible that the actual values realised may deviate from those estimates. If the
book value exceeds the recoverable value, it is depreciated to the estimated
value affecting net income based on its anticipated yield as a result of its
discounted, estimated future earnings or otherwise based on a higher net sales
value.

Leasing

Fixed assets acquired under leasing agreements, to which the consolidated
companies have the rights and risks of ownership, are classified as financial
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leases. In the process, such assets are capitalised at agreement start date at their
initial cost or rather at a lower net cash value of future, non-cancellable lease
payments, and the corresponding liability is recorded and reported as appro-
priate under current or long-term liabilities. 

Unrealised gains from sale and leaseback transactions, which meet the 
definition of financial leases, are deferred and realised over the life of the lease
agreement.

Payments under operating leases are charged directly against net income.

Provisions

Provisions are recorded only if there is an obligation to do so or if any such might
be probable based on a past event, and the amount of such obligation can be
reliably estimated.

Possible obligations and those that cannot be reliably estimated are disclosed as
contingent liabilities.

Employee benefits

Employee benefit plans maintained by the Group are designed in accordance
with regulations and circumstances existing in Switzerland. The majority of
employees are covered to receive retirement, disability or death benefits by
Tamedia AG’s and Espace Media Groupe’s own independent employee benefit
plan. All remaining employees are insured under the provisions of collective
contracts with insurance providers. Contributions to the employee benefit
plans are made by both employer and employee pursuant to statutory require-
ments and in accordance with the provisions in each plan.

Each year, an independent actuary calculates the benefit obligations under
the “defined benefit” plans in accordance with criteria stipulated in IFRS using
the “projected unit credit” method. The obligations equate to the cash value of
the anticipated future cash flows. The plan assets and earnings are calculated
annually. Actuarial gains and losses exceeding 10 per cent of the plan’s
compulsory obligations or, if applicable, the higher value of the plan’s assets,
are reported in the income statement over the employees’ remaining years of
service. 

In the balance sheet, funding gaps in the defined benefit plans are reported
as a provision. For its calculation, the cash value of the employee benefit obli-
gations is compared with the assets at fair value (taking into consideration any
unrecorded actuarial gains or losses). Any surplus contributions are itemised in
the notes. They are only capitalised if by doing so the Group’s future expenses
can be reduced.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recorded directly affecting
net income.

Taxes

Current-year income taxes are recorded for the period based on net operating
profits itemised locally in the reporting year for each consolidated company.
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Deferred taxes resulting from differences in the assessment of values listed for
tax and for consolidated financial reporting purposes are calculated based on
the comprehensive liability method and are deferred. In the process, all tempor-
ary differences between the values included in the financial year statements and 
the commercial consolidated financial statements are taken into consideration.
Decisive are the anticipated local tax rates. Any changes in deferred taxes are
reported affecting net income.

Deferred taxes on losses brought forward are only capitalised if it is foreseeable
that profits can be yielded in the future with which the losses brought forward
can be offset for tax purposes.

Product development

All expenditures for product development incurred during the financial year are
entered affecting net income to the extent that the restrictive capitalisation
requirements for the development costs as per IAS 38 are not fully met.

Operating revenues

Operating revenues from the sale of products or services are recorded at the time
when such products are delivered or the services are rendered. Revenues are
stated net of sales reductions, losses of accounts receivable and value-added tax.
Revenues and expenses from unsimilar barter transactions are reported as gross
values. Services in return not yet rendered are accrued. Similar barter trans-
actions (exchange transactions) are itemised on a net basis.

Costs of external financing

The cost of borrowed capital is recorded affecting net income in the period in
which such was incurred.

Segment reporting

Segment reporting is performed by media category or rather by business
division. Data is not segmented by geographic area, because, for the most part,
business activities are conducted in the German-speaking part of Switzerland.

The accounting principles described in this report also apply to segment
reporting.

Revenue, expenses and results of the various business segments include
allocating such items between business segments. Such intersegmental allo-
cations are recorded at terms and conditions matching those standard for the
industry.

The assets and liabilities include all balance sheet items that can be allocated
to a segment directly or that can be meaningfully applied to a specific segment.

Derivative financial instruments

Forward contracts and options are not entered into on a speculative basis, but
instead are a tool chosen selectively and exclusively for the reduction of specific
foreign currency and interest rate risks associated with the Group’s business.
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Foreign currency derivatives are valued either directly with the underlying
hedged transactions or separately at fair value as of the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, foreign currency
transactions and certain derivate financial instruments embedded in basic
agreements are shown in the balance sheet at fair value, either as current or
long-term financial assets or liabilities. The changes in fair value are entered as
either affecting net income or as an equity item, depending on the purpose for
which the respective derivative financial instruments are used.

In the case of so-called “fair value hedges” and those that qualify as such
(hedges of continued historical values), the change in fair value of the effective
portion (of the derivative financial instruments and the hedged transactions) is
recorded immediately affecting net income. The changes in fair values of the
effective portion of the derivative financial instruments, which qualify to be
treated as cash flow hedges, are recorded in equity until the underlying hedged
transaction is recorded and affects net income.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not 
considered to be accounting hedges (as understood by the definition given above)
or do not qualify to be treated as such, are recorded affecting net income as
financial income or expense components. This also applies to fair value hedges
and cash flow hedges as described above as soon as such transactions cease to
qualify for hedge accounting treatment.

Transactions with associated companies and related parties

Transactions with associated companies and related parties are conducted based
on terms and conditions matching those standard for the industry. Details rela-
ting to the compensation of members of management and the Board of Directors
are included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and in the
Corporate Governance section.

Employee profit participation plan

With the employee participation model, Tamedia provides the opportunity for
its managers and employees to purchase shares of the company (see also: Note
45). The costs associated with this opportunity are recorded at the time incurred
and posted affecting net income as a personnel expense. Treasury shares are
purchased so as to cover the risk associated with the participation model.



51

Notes to the consolidated income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement

and statement of changes in equity

The figures in the consolidated financial statements have been rounded. Because
the calculations are made to reflect a higher level of numerical accuracy, it is pos-
sible that small rounding differences may occur.

Changes in consolidation scope

In the financial year 2007, the following material changes occurred in the consoli-
dation scope:

Acquisitions of consolidated companies 

Espace Media Groupe

On 1 October 2007, Tamedia AG took over 80.0 per cent of participating interest
in Espace Media Groupe.  By the end of December 2007, Tamedia acquired anot-
her 17.2 per cent with the result that as of 31 December 2007, it holds a total of
97.2 per cent participating interest in Espace Media Groupe.

The total costs of acquiring 80.0 per cent of Espace Media Groupe was 
CHF 205.0 million in cash and 600000 shares in Tamedia AG, equalling a nomi-
nal value to be allowed for at an initial amount of CHF 86.2 million. For the
added 17.2 per cent, the purchase price was CHF 57.0 million or CHF 300 per
share. 

As of the first-time consolidation of the 80.0 per cent of Espace Media Groupe,
assets totalling CHF 499.3 million and borrowed capital of CHF 115.6 million
were recorded and allocated in the following manner:

Note 1



52

Espace Media Groupe Values at Previous

in CHF 000 first-time consolidation valuation 1

Cash and cash equivalents 44 314 44 314 

Trade receivables 39 905 39 905 

Property, plant and equipment 188 362 188 362 

Long-term investments 24 697 24 697 

Deferred tax receivables 7 357 7 357 

Intangible assets 2 179 979 2 802 

Other assets 14 678 14 678 

Total assets 499 292 322 114

Trade accounts payable (22 790) (22 790)

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities (41 948) (41 948)

Long-term financial liabilities (7 399) (7 399)

Provisions for deferred taxes (28 739) (20 922)

Provisions (8 862) (8 862)

Other liabilities (5 850) (5 850)

Liabilities (115 588) (107 771)

Net assets 383 704 214 343

Remaining minority shareholders (73 667)

Previously held interests (18 877)

Purchase price 291 160

Of that, in Tamedia shares (86 160)

Purchased cash and cash equivalents (44 314)

Decreased / (increased) funds 160 686

Earnings contribution (EBITDA) being considered 

since date of acquisition  10 117

1 Adjusted to IFRS specification
2 The intangible assets also include the goodwill calculated for acquisition purposes. Goodwill was adjusted at the end of December 2007 when

the additional 17.2 per cent was acquired.

The assets include goodwill and other intangible rights amounting to CHF 180.0
million. Several different publishing rights totalling CHF 33.2 million were listed
separately as intangible assets. They are amortised, depending on the determi-
ned useful lifespan, using the straight-line method over a period of five to four-
teen years.

If Espace Media Groupe and its subsidiaries had been acquired on 1 January 2007,
in comparison the information stated in this financial report would be higher 
for sales revenue by CHF 182.4 million and the EBIDTA by CHF 31.4 million.

Edita S.A.

On 7 June 2007, Tamedia and the Luxembourg publishing house Editpress jointly
established Edita S.A. domiciled in Luxembourg. Both enterprises each have a 50
per cent interest in the new company. Edita S.A. launched a new commuter new-
spaper entitled L’essentiel and a new website in Luxembourg on 10 October 2007.

Tamedia Group
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RV Radio Vision AG

As of 2 March 2007, Tamedia took over 50 per cent interest in the company RV
Radio Vision AG. Radio Basel 1, Radio Basilisk and Radio Regenbogen bundled their
sales forces into Radio Vision AG. Thus, the company is being considered
accordingly by means of quota consolidation since 1 March 2007.

Sale of consolidated companies 

Radio Basilisk AG and RV Radio Vision AG

As of 7 December 2007, Tamedia sold 100 per cent of its interests in Radio Basilisk
AG and its 50 per cent interest in RV Radio Vision AG. 

Radio Basilisk AG and RV Radio Vision AG Values at the time

in CHF 000 of deconsolidation

Cash and cash equivalents 397 

Trade accounts receivable 1 490 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 177 

Property, plant and equipment 62 

Intangible assets 1 724 

Other assets 245 

Total assets 4 094 

Trade accounts payable (387)

Current taxes payable (145)

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities (640)

Long-term financial liabilities (275)

Provisions (48)

Other liabilities (263)

Liabilities (1 758)

Sold net assets 2 336 

Sales price 12 500 

Sold cash and cash equivalents (397)

Decreased / (increased) funds 12 103 

Additional details about the discontinued operations are included in Note 15  
(“Discontinued operations”).
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Additional changes in consolidation scope

Tagblatt der Stadt Zürich AG

As of 1 March 2007, Tamedia took over from the NZZ subsidiary Freie Presse
Holding a share package of 25.0 per cent of the Tagblatt der Stadt Zürich AG. In
doing so, Tamedia increased its majority interest from 60.0 per cent to 85.0 per
cent. Freie Presse Holding continues to hold 15.0 per cent interest. 

In the reporting year 2006, the two major acquisitions listed below were made,
which, in accordance with IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements, must be
disclosed:

Huber PrintPack AG

As part of the co-operation arrangements between the sheet-fed printing
facilities of Huber & Co. AG and Meier + Cie AG, Meier Waser Druck AG changed
its name as of 1 January 2006 into Huber PrintPack AG. At the same time, Huber
& Co. AG took over the 50 per cent investment in the company, which up until
that time had been held by Tamedia AG, increased its participation ratio to 80
per cent by means of a capital increase through a contribution in kind and
added its sheet-fed printing activities to Huber PrintPack AG. Parts of the tech-
nical operating elements of the location in Feuerthalen were transferred to
Frauenfeld. These changes resulted in full consolidation of the company begin-
ning as of 1 January 2006. Before that time, the company was taken into account
by means of quota consolidation.

Additional details on Huber PrintPack are listed in Note 15 (“Discontinued 
operations”).

Presse Publicité Rep. SA

As of 4 January 2006, Tamedia took over from the HandelsZeitung publishing
group the 50 per cent participation in Presse Publicité Rep. SA. Tamedia now
holds 100 per cent of the company’s shares. Since 1 January 2006, therefore, the
company is now fully consolidated, having been included by means of quota
consolidation before that time.

Foreign currency conversion 2007 2006

in CHF

The following exchange rates were applied for converting foreign currencies: 

Exchange rate at year’s end

1 EUR 1.66 1.61

Average exchange rate

1 EUR 1.65 1.58

Note 2

Tamedia Group
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Note 3Segment information
in CHF 000

Newspapers Magazines Electronic Services Not Eliminations Total

media allocable 1

2007

Revenues third parties 547 748 92 943 58 618 72 659 0 0 771 968

Revenues inter-segment 3 008 1 104 3 697 196 522 0 (204 331) 0

Operating revenues 550 755 94 048 62 315 269 181 0 (204 331) 771 968    

Operating expenses (450 312) (78 412) (59 327) (220 322) 0 204 331 (604 042)

Operating income before depreciation

and amortisation (EBITDA) 100 443 15 635 2 988 48 859 0 0 167 926  

Margin 2 18.2% 16.6% 4.8% 18.2% 21.8%

Depreciation and amortisation (3 257) (189) (925) (22 406) 0 0 (26 776)

of which impairment on goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Operating income (EBIT) 97 186 15 446 2 063 26 454 0 0 141 149  

Margin 2 17.6% 16.4% 3.3% 9.8% 18.3%

Share in earnings of associated companies 4 327 0 1 283 387 0 0 5 998

Total assets 476 891 32 607 69 942 467 983 62 751 0 1 110 173

Total liabilities 169 836  33 644 14 756 93 035 86 707 0 397 978

Capital expenditures in property, 
plant and equipment 658 4 819 8 191 0 0 9 672

Capital expenditures in intangible assets 1 286 0 394 2 017 0 0 3 697

Capital expenditures in associated companies 2 205 0 4 460 0 0 0 6 665

Average number of employees 823 106 202 732 0 0 1 863

2006

Revenues third parties 473 127 83 166 51 376 50 206 0 0 657 875

Revenues inter-segment 1 690 390 444 157 501 0 (160 025) 0

Operating revenues 474 817 83 556 51 820 207 708 0 (160 025) 657 875   

Operating expenses (386 525) (70 395) (48 799) (171 133) 0 160 025 (516 827)

Operating income before 

depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 88 292 13 161 3 020 36 575 0 0 141 048   

Margin 2 18.6% 15.8% 5.8% 17.6% 21.4%

Depreciation and amortisation (3 521) (89) (824) (18 337) 0 0 (22 771)

of which impairment on goodwill 0 (66) 0 0 0 0 (66)

Operating income (EBIT) 84 771 13 072 2 197 18 238 0 0 118 277  

Margin 2 17.9% 15.6% 4.2% 8.8% 18.0%

Share in earnings of associated companies 5 116 0 643 491 0 0 6 250

Total assets 336 049 22 508 78 320 272 729 79 357 0 788 962

Total liabilities 124 353 32 833 11 270 57 931 59 044 0 285 431

Capital expenditures in property, 
plant and equipment 132 0 253 5 536 0 0 5 921

Capital expenditures in intangible assets 422 0 151 1 551 0 0 2 124

Capital expenditures in associated companies 0 0 250 0 0 0 250

Average number of employees 744 112 173 512 0 0 1 541 

1 Total assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations were reported in 2007 as non-allocable.

2 The margin relates to operating revenues.

Further information with regard to the individual segments is shown in the operational review on pages 14–27.
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Media revenues 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Advertising revenues 487 148 417 296

Circulation revenues 145 932 132 456

Other media revenues 61 701 54 036

Total 694 780 603 788

of which barter transactions 18 239 25 482

At 90 per cent, the by far largest contribution to operating revenues was the
media revenues. In comparison to the previous year, they increased by CHF 91.0
million or 15 per cent to CHF 694.8 million CHF. Espace Media Groupe, inclu-
ded in the consolidated financial statement for the first time, added with 
CHF 47.4 million a good 50 per cent to overall growth in earnings. Internal
growth of CHF 43.6 million is especially the result of job ads, 20 Minuten as well
as Finanz und Wirtschaft. Revenues yielded from circulation activity also grew
primarily due to Espace Media Groupe, which was considered for the first time
for one quarter, while the earnings from previous activities were kept short.
Especially thanks to the pleasing development of online media, reported in-
come from other media activities, with an increase of 14 per cent, showed
strong growth.

Printing revenues 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Newspaper offset press revenues 8 532 8 274 

Sheet-fed printing revenues 14 562 0 

Other printing revenues 13 409 14 079

Total 36 503 22 352

Printing revenues generated a good 5 per cent of the operating income, compared
with 2 per cent in the previous year. It rose by CHF 14.1 million or 63 per cent to
CHF 36.5 million CHF. This growth can be attributed entirely to the printing
activities performed by Espace Media Groupe. Earnings from Huber Group’s
sheet-fed activities were recategorised and are now being reported under
discontinued operations (see Note 15).

Other operating revenues 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Distribution revenues 24 829 20 947

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 38 44

Unused provisions 889 2 172

Other operating income 14 929 8 571

Total 40 685 31 735 

Note 4

Note 5

Note 6
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The portion representing other operating revenues on overall operating revenues
was at 5 per cent somewhat higher than in the year before. CHF 4.1 million of this
increase is the result of the merger with Espace Media Groupe. The increase by CHF
4.8 million from past activities is the result of one-time earnings from the sale of a
number of different divisions of the Huber Group on the one hand and the result of
earnings from the publishing business of the newspaper network Die Nordostschweiz
in Frauenfeld on the other hand. The earnings from distribution increased mainly
due to taking over the early morning delivery and the sale of St. Galler Tagblatt 
carried out for the first time during an entire financial year as well as the integra-
tion of the delivery organisation Bevo by 18.5 per cent to CHF 24.9 million. 

Costs of material and services 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Costs of material 77 239 60 943

Costs of services 95 989 82 823 

Total 173 228 143 767

The costs of material and services account are at 22 per cent of the operating
revenues (previous year: 21 per cent) and increased by 21 per cent to CHF 173.2 mil-
lion. CHF 14.3 million of this increase is the result of the merger with Espace Me-
dia Groupe. For already existing activities, expenses rose by CHF 15.3 million. The
costs of paper rose not only in price, but also as a result of volume by 27 per cent
to CHF 64.5 million. The costs for third-party services increased by 16 per cent to
CHF 96.0 million. A large portion of the increase has to do with the higher number
of printing services ordered at third party companies as well as the editorial
services sourced on behalf of the newspaper network Die Nordostschweiz for 
Der Landbote.

Personnel expenses 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Salaries and wages 202 334 168 285

Social security and retirement benefits 31 085 29 165

Other personnel expenses 19 906 14 336 

Total 253 325 211 786

Personnel/employees 2007 2006

Number

As of 31 December 1 2 639 1 580

Average 1 1 863 1 541 

1 Without deliverers Zuvo and Bevo

Note 7

Note 8
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Personnel expenses, at 33 per cent of operating revenues, continue to represent
the highest category of expenditures. The increase of CHF 41.5 million or 
20 per cent is attributable with CHF 30.1 million to the merger with Espace
Media Groupe. The personnel expenses of already existing activities rose by 
CHF 11.4 million. These added expenses are particularly attributable to setting
up News, to the regionalisation of Tages Anzeiger, which was considered for the
first time for an entire year, set-up and expansion of 20 Minuten Online as well as
integrating the distribution activities in St. Gallen into the delivery organisa-
tion Zuvo.

Consideration of the employee benefit plans provided by Espace Media Groupe
did not result in any significant increased costs. Further details on how employee
benefit obligations are calculated can be found in Note 22. 

The number of employees (converted to full-time equivalents) rose by the end
of the year from 1 580 by 1 059 or 67 per cent to 2 639. On annual average, the
number of employees was 1 863, which, when compared to the previous year, is
equal to an increase by 323 full-time positions or 21 per cent. This increase is also
entirely the result of the merger with Espace Media Groupe. 

Other operating expenses 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Distribution and sales expenses 80 525 71 364

Advertising and public relations 43 862 42 939

Rent, lease payments and licences 14 394 14 485

General operating expenses 38 708 32 487

Total 177 489 161 274  

of which barter transactions 18 239 25 482

The other operating expenses amounted to 23 per cent of operating revenues
(previous year: 25 per cent) and thus increased by 10 per cent or rather by CHF
16.2 million to CHF 177.5 million. With CHF 13.2 million a major portion of the
growth was accounted by the merger with Espace Media Groupe. Overall,
operating expenses by existing activities only showed a minimum increase. Half
of the increased expenses for sales and distributions at 13 per cent are, however,
in fact accounted for by higher expenses in previously owned activities. On the
other hand, expenses for advertising and public relations did decrease in equal
magnitude in the previously owned activities. 

Note 9
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Depreciation and amortisation 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 22 127 18 723

Impairment on goodwill 0 66  

Amortisation of intangible assets 4 566 3 572 

Other depreciation and value adjustments 83 410

Total 26 776 22 771

Depreciation and amortisation increased from CHF 22.8 million by a total of 
CHF 4.0 million or rather by 18 per cent to CHF 26.8 million. CHF 5.6 million of the
increase has to do with the merger with Espace Media Groupe. For already existing
activities, depreciation and amortisation was reduced by CHF 1.6 million. 

Associated companies 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Share in earnings of associated companies 5 998 6 250 

Valuation of investments in associated companies 28 839 31 167

The share of the earnings of associated companies declined slightly by CHF 0.3
million to CHF 6.0 million. The proportionate results of CHF 6.0 million recog-
nised are offset by a reduction in dividends received in the same amount.

The investment values in associated companies were lower by CHF 2.3 million
at CHF 28.8 million. On the one hand, already existing investments were attri-
buted to the associated companies Berner Zeitung AG and Bevo AG, which have
been recognised since the first-time consolidation of Espace Media Groupe by
means of full or rather by quota consolidation. On the other hand, Tamedia
acquired a 20 per cent interest in tilllate Schweiz AG. In a second step, the Group
plans to increase its participation to 49 per cent at the beginning of 2010. The
purchase price will be calculated based on income-dependent factors and has not
yet been defined.

Note 10

Note 11
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Share of net assets of associated companies 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Current assets 7 962 23 026

Non-current assets 31 356 35 762

Total assets 39 318 58 788

Current liabilities 4 941 13 761

Long-term liabilities 5 537 13 945

Net assets 1 28 839 31 081 

Share of revenues and profits of associated companies

Operating revenues 70 592 81 890

Operating expenses (62 103) (71 114)

Operating income before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 8 489 10 776

1 The disclosed shares of net assets also include negative figures for companies, while the capitalised share of associated companies only 
takes into account those for which Tamedia is obligated above and beyond the investment.

No shares of the associated companies are publicly traded. Therefore, no published
share prices are available. Because the associated companies do not apply IFRS
as their accounting principle, the financial statements available were adjusted
to reflect IFRS principles. To do so, in some cases it was necessary to base the
disclosed figures on estimates. Over the coming years, it may be necessary to
make additional adjustments if new information is made available. All the
companies close their accounts as of 31 December. 

Details with regard to transactions with associated companies are disclosed in
Note 42. Information on taking over an additional 28.5 per cent of homegate AG
in 2008 can be found in Note 46 (“Significant events since balance sheet date”).
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Other financial income 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Interest income 4 319 1 550 

Gains on marketable securities 220 122  

Gains from sales of investments in subsidiaries 12 362 0

Exchange gains 144 227

Other financial income 880 922  

Financial income 17 925 2 822

Interest expense (791) (361)

Interest expense on financial leases (208) (393)

Losses on marketable securities (2) (2)

Depreciation of financial assets (773) 0

Exchange losses (139) (288)

Other financial expenses (32) (36)

Financial expenses (1 945) (1 080)

Total 15 980 1 741

The other financial income increased by CHF 14.2 million to CHF 16.0 million.
This increase was primarily the result of higher interest income from cash and
cash equivalents and a one-time profit from the sale of investments in Radio
Basilisk Betriebs AG and RV Radio Vision AG.

Income taxes 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Income tax expenses are comprised as follows:

Current income taxes (11 160) (21 078)

Deferred income taxes 2 976 (2 103)

Total (8 185) (23 181)

Note 12

Note 13
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Analysis of tax charge 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Income before taxes 163 127 126 268 

Average income tax rate 20.9% 19.6%

Expected tax expense (using average rates) (34 139) (24 702)

Taxes related to earnings of prior periods (70) 77

Use of non-capitalised tax losses brought forward 
and not considered in the past 16 096 2 027 

Non-capitalised deferred tax assets brought forward (895) (235)

Impact of investment income deductions 1 238 153

Deferred income taxes due to changes in tax rates 318 466 

Dissolution of unneeded average provisions for taxes 8 443 0

Other impacting items 824 (968) 

Income taxes (8 185) (23 181)

Effective tax rate 5.0% 18.4%

The anticipated average Group tax rate equals the weighted average of the
consolidated companies. Because of the merger with Espace Media Groupe, it
rose slightly to 21 per cent.

When compared to the previous year, the effective income tax rate on earnings
before taxes fell significantly from 18 per cent to 5 per cent. This is particularly
the result of one-time events. Losses carried forward, the realisation of which was
regarded as open until now, could certainly be used. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities, the need for which was considered as likely until now, could be liquid-
ated. The effects are recognised in the table above in the positions “Use of non-
capitalised tax losses brought forward and not considered in the past” and
“Dissolution of unneeded deferred tax liabilities”.

The reduction of the income tax charge in the Canton of Thurgau led to a de-
crease in the tax expense and had the effect of both reducing the future tax rate
to be applied for deferred tax assets and liabilities, as well as lowering the effect-
ive income tax charge.



63

Deferred tax assets and liabilities 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Deferred taxes are the result of temporarily limited differences in the valuation
of:

Investments in associated companies 4 806 6 190

Capitalised tax losses brought forward 2 736 3 674

Employee benefit liabilities as per IAS 19 1 794 2 401

Provisions 1 652 0

Other balance sheet items 487 334

Total deferred tax assets 11 474 12 599 

Trade accounts receivable 1 563 1 378

Land and buildings 21 457 9 918

Other property, plant and equipment 7 822 4 497

Employee benefit plan assets as per IAS 19 5 179 4 691 

Marketable securities, loans 1 464 2 252 

Intangible assets 8 470 704

Provisions and accruals including taxes 487 12 096

Other balance sheet items 3 944 214

Total deferred tax liabilities 50 386 35 751 

Tax deductible losses brought forward 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Capitalised tax losses brought forward 2 736 3 674

Average income tax rate 20.2% 21.0%

Corresponding to effective tax losses brought forward (13 551) (17 479)

Expiring within 1 year 0 (91) 

Expiring in 2 to 5 years (6 628) (16 368)

Expiring later than in 5 years (6 924) (1 021)

The deductibility of these capitalised losses brought forward for tax purposes
depends upon the taxable profits that are achieved in the future. The prerequis-
ites for realisation are at hand for the relevant companies, based on their current
profitability.

Non-capitalised tax losses brought forward (31 657) (75 876)

Expiring within 1 year (1 757) (16 551)

Expiring in 2 to 5 years (13 248) (52 229)

Expiring later than in 5 years (16 653) (7 096)

Note 14
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The non-capitalised losses brought forward amounted to CHF 31.7 million at the
end of 2007. The decline is the result of realising the losses brought forward, the
realisation of which was regarded as open until now. Additional, non-capitalised
tax losses brought forward came about as a result of the first-time consolidation
of Espace Media Groupe, Edita S.A. and the financial restructuring of Huber
Group. At this time it is highly unlikely that these losses brought forward will be
able to be offset with future profits. For this reason, deferred assets for these los-
ses brought forward were not capitalised.

Discontinued operations

The products and investments listed below are itemised in the income statement
and the balance sheet as discontinued operations. So far as assets are still
available and designated for sale as of balance sheet date for these operations,
they are itemised separately in the balance sheet accordingly. The details in the
income statement of the previous year and the segment reporting were adjusted
respectively. No retroactively effective adjustments were made in the balance
sheet.

Up until now, Tamedia ran two private radio stations with its Radio 24 in Zurich
and Radio Basilisk in Basle.  At the same time, Espace Media Groupe that Tamedia
merged with in autumn of 2007 ran the two private radio stations Capital FM and
Canal 3. The new radio and television law has limited the number of private radio
licences any provider is allowed to have and thus both companies were forced
during their merger preparations to each sell one private radio station. Radio
Basilisk, which up until now was categorised in the division Electronic media, was
sold in December 2007. While the sale was being arranged, Radio Basilisk’s real
estate property was appraised by an outside expert. The results showed a de-
crease in value, which led to a one-time write-off of CHF 1.6 million. At the end
of February, the property was sold at book value.

The news magazine Facts, which up until now was categorised in the division
Magazines, was discontinued in June 2007.

The printing and publishing activities of Huber Group, which were included
in the division Services, were sold over the period of the last four months of 2007.
As of 31 December 2007, the properties of Huber & Co. AG as well as various
different assets and inventories are being itemised as assets designated for sale.
The liabilities associated with assets designated for sale include for the most part
deferred tax liabilities, which are to be attributed to these assets. 

Note 15
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Key figures of the discontinued operations 1 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Operating revenues 42 055 65 677 

Operating expenses (51 178) (67 680)

Depreciation and amortisation (3 083) (4 069)

Operating income (EBIT) (12 206) (6 072)

Financial income, net 27 (176)

Income before taxes (12 179) (6 248)

Income taxes 1 430 1 588

Net income (loss) for the valuation 

of assets designated for sale at fair value (1 609) 0 

Income taxes applicable to such 402 0

Net income (loss) for continuing operations (11 955) (4 660)

Net income (loss) for discontinued operations per share 2 in CHF (1.13) (0.47)

Current assets 585 

Fixed assets 22 727 

Assets designated for sale 23 312 

Current liabilities 0 

Long-term liabilities (3 280)

Liabilities associated to assets  

designated for sale (3 280)

Net assets designated for sale 20 033 

Change in cash and cash equivalents/net cash flow (5 623) (3 698) 
1 The activities of Facts, Radio Basilisk, Huber PrintPack AG and Huber&Co. AG, which are reported under the discontinued divisions, are shown

as inter-company relationships after the elimination of sales and expenses. This representation deviates from the results shown if the 

activities were to each be assessed individually.

2 Both diluted and undiluted

Personnel/employees 2007 2006

Number

As of 31 December 99 313 

Average 239 323 

Minority interests in net income 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Minority interests in profits (537) (152)

Minority interests in losses 21 210

Total (517) 59

Note 16
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The increase in the minority interests in net income resulted primarily from the
shares of minority shareholders in the net income of Espace Media Groupe that
was recognised for the first time.

Net income per share 2007 2006

Number

Weighted average of shares outstanding during the year  

Number of issued shares 10 600 000 10 000 000 

Number of treasury shares (weighted average) 4 449 4 915

Number of outstanding shares (weighted average) 10 143 172 9 995 085

Undiluted

Net income in CHF 000 142 470 98 485

Weighted average of shares outstanding applicable 
for this calculation 10 143 172 9 995 085

Net income per share (undiluted) in CHF 14.05 9.85

Diluted

Net income in CHF 000 142 470 98 485

Weighted average of shares outstanding applicable 
for this calculation 10 143 172 9 995 085

Net income (loss) per share (diluted) in CHF 14.05 9.85

Trade receivables 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Trade accounts receivable from third parties 144 312 114 045

Trade accounts receivable from associated companies 3 611 1 698

Provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable (5 366) (4 656)

Total 142 637 111 086

Trade accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are typically payable
within a period of 30 days. Their maturity as of 31 December is shown in the table
below.

Note 17

Note 18
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Trade accounts receivable from third parties  2007 2006

and associated companies
in CHF 000

Not yet due 110 691 93 420 

Past due up to 30 days 25 910 15 883 

Past due 30 to 60 days 3 805 2 088 

Past due 60 to 90 days 1 963 205 

Past due 90 to 120 days 163 119 

Past due over 120 days 5 391 4 028 

Total 147 923 115 743 

The trade accounts receivable increased by 28 per cent to CHF 142.6 million during
the financial year. The portion of such allocated to Espace Media Groupe was CHF
35.6 million. For existing activities, outstanding receivables declined by CHF 4.0
million in particular as a result of the sale of various different divisions. CHF 5.4
million were provided for doubtful trade accounts receivable, compared with CHF
4.7 million in the previous year. The change in the provisions for doubtful trade
accounts receivable is shown in the following table, which also takes the increase
as a result of Espace Media Groupe into account.

2007 2006

Balance as of 1 January (4 656) (5 014)

Change in consolidation scope (1 616) (24)

Increase (818) (365)

Dissolution 84 81 

Used during the financial year 1 640 660 

Balance as of 31 December (5 366) (4 656)

Inventories 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Raw, ancillary and operating materials 4 436 2 637

Work in progress 1 250 1 239

Finished goods  0 1 875

Trade merchandise 17 17 

Advance payments to suppliers 319 0

Total 6 021 5 768 

Inventories rose slightly by CHF 0.3 million to CHF 6.0 million. As a result of the
merger with Espace Media Groupe, inventories increased by CHF 3.7 million. Inven-
tories of existing activities declined by CHF 3.5 million, particularly as a result of the
sale of various different Huber Group activities. The material costs included in net
income are shown as costs of material in Note 7.

Note 19
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Property, plant and equipment and non-operational real estate
in CHF 000 Land Buildings Technical Furnishings Advance Total Non-

installations and equipment and motor vehicles payments on tangible assets operational
constructional machinery and works assets under real estate

facilities of art construction

Acquisition value 

Balance as of 31 December 2005 54 058 204 436 168 492 12 830 261 440 077 12 406 

Change in consolidation scope 0 13 3 530 7 0 3 549 3 475  

Additions 0 1 648 3 875 311 88 5 921 0 

Disposals 0 (6 063) (6 225) (420) 0 (12 709) (6 950)

Transfers 0 200 35 0 (261) (26) 0  

Revaluation (51) 0 0 0 0 (51) 0 

Balance as of 31 December 2006 54 007 200 234 169 706 12 728 88 436 763 8 931   

Change in consolidation scope 24 471 94 490 68 717 563 0 188 240 0 

Additions 0 1 544 2 512 705 4 911 9 672 0  

Disposals 0 (1 851) (7 285) (685) 0 (9 820) 0 

Transfers (5 349) (11 228) (3 722) (218) (88) (20 605) (8 931)

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Balance as of 31 December 2007 73 129 283 189 229 927 13 094 4 911 604 250 0   

Accumulated depreciation  

Balance as of 31 December 2005 0 104 612 62 644 7 990 0 175 247 2 644   

Change in consolidation scope 0 12 1 578 5 0 1 594 177   

Annual depreciation 2 0 6 103 14 455 1 105 0 21 663 268  

Depreciation due to impairment1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Disposals 0 (5 775) (4 074) (283) 0 (10 132) (355)

Transfers 0 0 (10) 0 0 (10) 0  

Balance as of 31 December 2006 0 104 952 74 593 8 817 0 188 362 2 735  

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 (59) 0 0 (59) 0  

Annual depreciation 2 0 7 735 15 225 1 063 0 24 024 112  

Depreciation due to impairment 1/2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 609  

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 (1 797) (4 495) (487) 0 (6 779) 0 

Transfers 0 (678) (1 844) (80) 0 (2 601) (4 455) 

Balance as of 31 December 2007 0 110 212 83 420 9 314 0 202 946 0  

Net book value of assets  

Balance as of 31 December 2006 54 007 95 283 95 113 3 911 88 248 401 6 196   

of which leased 0 0 11 254 0 0 11 254 0  

Balance as of 31 December 2007 73 129 172 977 146 507 3 780 4 911 401 304 0 

of which leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
1 Depreciation due to impairment is recorded in the income statement within the item depreciation and amortisation (see also Note 10).
2 Also includes 2007 depreciation of property, plant and equipment in the amount of CHF 2.0 million (2006: CHF 3.2 million) and amortisation of impairment in the amount of CHF 1.6 million, which is itemised in

the income statement in the position for discontinued operations (see also Note 15).

Note 20
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In total, the property, plant and equipment increased by CHF 152.9 million, from
CHF 248.4 million to CHF 401.3 million. This increase is entirely the result of the
merger with Espace Media Groupe, whereby CHF 188.4 million was added to the
item property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment for existing
activities, however, declined by CHF 25.5 million. On the one hand, this has to do
with the sale of several different divisions in addition to the re-categorisation into
assets designated for sale, such as the Huber Group real estate in Frauenfeld. Also
re-categorised into assets designated for sale as of balance sheet date was the non-
operational real estate of Radio Basilisk in Basle. 

Investments increased significantly by CHF 5.9 million to CHF 9.6 million. In 
the reporting period, investments were especially made in modernisation and ex-
pansion of operational real estate in Zurich and in Berne as well as in machinery
and equipment. At CHF 24.0 million, annual depreciation was higher by CHF 2.4
million as compared to the previous year.

Further information with regard to the non-operational land and buildings is
shown in the following note. Details with regard to pledges of property, plant and
equipment can be found in Note 40.

Non-operational land and buildings 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Rent income 0 694

Real estate expense 0 (593)

Real estate income (loss) 0 101 

Net book value of assets 0 6 196

Fair value of the real estate 0 6 800

As of balance sheet date, the Group did not own any non-operational land and
uildings. The Radio Basilisk real estate, which was disclosed under this balance sheet
item in the previous year, was re-categorised into assets designated for sale (see
Note 15).

Note 21
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Other non-current financial assets 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Other investments 133 39

Long-term loans receivable from third parties 425 440

Long-term loans receivable from associated companies 1 325 2 600  

Employee benefit plan assets as per IAS 19 24 658 22 825

Other financial assets 905 1 052

Total 27 446 26 957

Other non-current financial assets increased by net CHF 0.5 million to CHF 27.4
million. While employee benefit plan assets as per IAS 19 increased in value by
CHF 1.8 million, loans receivable from third parties and associated companies
were reduced by CHF 1.3 million. 

Details with regard to the pledging of other financial assets are to be found in
Note 40.

Employee benefits

Only the Board of Trustees may make decisions with regard to the use of available
free funds for Swiss pension funds. As a result, any capitalisation of surplus funds
allowing an employer to profit from benefits accrued may only be made to the
extent provided for by law and in accordance with the decision of the Board of
Trustees. In doing so, to be taken into account are the funds available based on
the pension funds’ current financial circumstances and that all beneficiaries are
given equal treatment.

Amounts recorded as pension plan assets consist of employer contribution
reserves and a portion of the pension plans’ available funds for those plans that
have surplus funds. Actuarial gains/loss and unrecognised parts thereof are shown
as net figures.

Note 22

Note 23
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Development of amounts recognised in profit and loss
in CHF 000 2007 2006

Current employer service cost (21 168) (19 358)

Interest cost (25 908) (23 579)

Expected return on plan assets 43 206 37 682 

Recognition of plan improvement costs 0 0 

Recognition of actuarial gain/(loss) 275 18 

Effect of curtailment gain/(loss) 3 200 132

Recognition of unrecognised past service cost (181) (50)

Company’s net periodic pension cost (576) (5 155)

Employer contributions 16 331 15 804

Net pension income/(cost) not yet recorded in the  income statement 15 755 10 649 

Non-recognised portion of net pension income/(cost) (11 127) (10 054)

Income/(cost) recognised in the income statement

in addition to employer contributions 4 628 595 

Development of amounts recognised in the balance sheet 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Present value of obligations (1 032 756) (887 617)

Fair value of plan assets 1 195 872 983 796

Present value of net assets/(obligations) 163 117 96 179

Unrecognised actuarial loss/(gains) (88 660) (56 433)

Unrecognised past service cost 1 409 1 597

Unrecognised part of defined benefit (asset)/obligation (60 126) (30 288)

Defined benefit assets (obligations) recognised

in the balance sheet 15 740 11 055

of which plan asset as per IAS 19 24 658 22 825

of which plan obligations as per IAS 19 (8 918) (11 769)
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Development of defined benefit obligations (DBO) 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Present value of DBO as of 1 January (887 617) (890 880)

Increase due to acquisitions (213 221) 0

Increase due to plan amendments 7 (2 134)

Current employer service cost (21 168) (19 358)

Interest cost (25 908) (23 579)

Employee contributions (13 107) (12 577)

Benefits paid 52 042 48 948

Insurance premiums 1 025 1 671

Effect of settlement 26 362 360

Actuarial gain/(loss) 48 829 9 932

Present value of obligation as of 31 December (1 032 756) (887 617)

Development of plan assets 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Fair value as of 1 January 983 796 957 750

Increase due to acquisitions 232 019 0

Increase due to plan amendments 0 487

Expected return on plan assets 43 206 37 682

Employer contributions 16 331 15 804

Employee contributions 13 107 12 577

Benefits paid (52 042) (48 948)

Insurance premiums (1 025) (1 671)

Effect of settlement (24 050) (228)

Actuarial gain/(loss) (15 469) 10 343 

Fair value as of 31 December 1 195 873 983 796

Net asset/(obligation) as of 1 January 96 179 66 870

Net asset/(obligation) as of 31 December 163 117 96 179

Based on the number of employees as of 31 December 2007, the assumption can 
be made that contributions to defined benefit plans in 2008 will amount to CHF 
18.8 million.
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Allocation of plan assets 2007 2006

in %

Equity securities 1 27.5 35.1

Debt securities 31.7 33.6

Real estate 18.2 16.3

Other 22.6 15.0

Total 100.0 100.0

1 The investments in equity securities do not include any directly held shares in Tamedia AG. On the other hand, fund products managed by

third parties may include shares in Tamedia AG.

Expected return on plan assets 2007 2006

in %

Equity securities 6.9 6.3

Debt securities 3.1 2.5

Real estate 4.7 4.2

Other 5.4 2.1

Total 6.9 4.1

The expected return is calculated as a weighted average of the investment strategy
and the expected returns per investment category. The assumptions for each
individual investment category of the plan assets are based on long-term market
expectations over the period during which the employee benefit obligations will
fall due for payment.

Value of property, plant and equipment used by the Group 

The employee benefit fund does not hold any property, plant and equipment in
use by consolidated or associated companies.

Return on plan assets 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Actual return on plan assets 27 736 48 025 

Expected return on plan assets 43 206 37 682 

Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets (15 469) 10 343 
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Actuarial assumptions 2007 2006

in %

Discount rate 3.5 2.8

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 4.6 4.1

Expected salary increases 1.0 1.0

Pension benefit increases 0.6 0.6

Long-term interest on pension entitlements 3.5 2.8

The most recent actuarial calculations (using the “projected unit credit” method)
were made as of 31 December 2007.

Contributions to defined contribution plans 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Total 475 483

Obligations to employee benefit funds 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Obligations to Tamedia employee benefit funds 653 14 

Obligations to other employee benefit funds 150 306 

Total 804 320 

Multi-year comparison 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

in CHF 000

Present value of 
employee benefit obligations (1 032 756) (887 617) (890 880) (746 278) (759 750) 

Fair value of plan assets 1 195 873 983 796 957 750 795 604 811 993

Net assets/(net obligations) 163 117 96 179 66 870 49 326 52 243

Expected loss/(gain) 
on employee benefit obligations 17 510 (2 398)

Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets (15 469) 10 343
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Intangible assets
in CHF 000 Goodwill 2 Publishing rights Capitalised Other Advance Total

and other software intangible payments on 
legal rights project costs assets assets under 

construction

Acquisition value 
Balance as of 31 December 2005 191 266 4 201 22 723 495 0 218 685  

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 31 0 0 31

Additions 66 0 2 058 0 0 2 124 

Disposals 0 0 (1 475) 0 0 (1 475)

Transfers 0 0 106 (80) 0 26

Balance as of 31 December 2006 191 332 4 201 23 443 415 0 219 390 

Change in consolidation scope 117 696 33 250 2 748 0 2 383 156 077

Additions 0 0 3 491 206 0 3 697

Disposals 0 (120) (1 156) 0 (603) (1 879)

Transfers 0 (452) 0 0 (452)

Balance as of 31 December 2007 309 028 37 331 28 074 206 2 194 376 833 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance as of 31 December 2005 7 281 162 16 820 415 0 24 678 

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 14 0 0 14

Annual depreciation 3 0 344 3 549 0 0 3 893

Depreciation due to impairment 1 66 0 0 0 0 66 

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 (1 382) 0 0 (1 382)

Transfers 0 0 10 0 0 10

Balance as of 31 December 2006 7 346 505 19 013 415 0 27 279  

Change in consolidation scope (7 000) 0 (47) 0 0 (7 047) 

Annual depreciation 3 0 967 2 996 0 845 4 808 

Depreciation due to impairment 1 0 0 0 0 0 0  

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 (36) (900) 0 (603) (1 539)

Transfers 0 0 (204) 0 0 (204)

Balance as of 31 December 2007 346 1 437 20 857 0 656 23 296 

Net book value of assets  

Balance as of 31 December 2006 183 985 3 696 4 430 0 0 192 111 

of which leased 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance as of 31 December 2007 308 682 35 895 7 217 206 1 538 353 537

of which leased 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 Depreciation due to impairment is recorded in the income statement within the item depreciation and amortisation (see also Note 10).

2 With the introduction of IFRS 3 on 1 January 2005, goodwill is no longer amortised, but instead undergoes an annual impairment test.

3 Also includes 2007 depreciation and amortisation CHF 0.2 million (2006: CHF 0.3 million), which is itemised in the income statement in the position for discontinued operations (see also Note 15).

Note 24
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The intangible assets increased by CHF 157.9 million, from CHF 192.1 million to
CHF 353.5 million. The increase is for the most part a direct result of the merger
with Espace Media Groupe. Because of the change in the consolidation scope, in-
tangible assets rose by CHF 156.1 million. All other additions in the amount of
CHF 3.7 million are offset by disposals of net CHF 0.3 million depreciation and
amortisation of CHF 4.8 million. Further explanations with regard to goodwill
and the impairment tests carried out are shown in the following note.

Goodwill 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Business division

Newspapers 254 576 145 876

Magazines / trade media 17 700 0

Electronic media 36 406 38 110

Total 308 682 183 985

Effects on the capitalised goodwill at reduced cash flow by

5% (311) (1 723)

10% (2 390) (3 691)

The carrying value of goodwill per cash-generating unit was examined as of 
31 December 2007. The units relate to individual products, which are usually
considered independent products within their own company. Their values in use
are calculated using the discounted cash flow method. 

The calculations that the business plans are based on refer to those values directly
achieved in the previous year, the current budget figures for 2008 as well as the
medium-term expectations for each of the business divisions. The data includes the
latest estimates as they relate to changes in revenue and costs. The estimates relat-
ing to the change in revenue is based on the current number of readers and listen-
ers and it is assumed that any the developments for the future will remain stable.
The reader and listener figures are compiled by third party companies (WEMF,
Radiocontrol, Telecontrol). Measures serving to improve the results are only taken
into account if they have already been decided and are already being implemented.
The business risks, the assessment of which varied, were taken into consideration
in the business plans. Because tax payments are included in the cash flows, a
discount rate after tax of 8.0 per cent (previous year: 8.0 per cent) was applied. This
equals a discount rate before tax of approx. 10.1 per cent (previous year: 10.1 per
cent). The business plans cover a period of four years. For the following years, the
growth rate applied in all of the divisions remained as it has been up until now at
1.0 per cent.

Based on these calculations, in 2007 it was determined that there was no impair-
ment requirement on the goodwill capitalised to date. 

As relates to consequences in the event of a new licence for Radio 24, please refer
to Note 46 (“Significant events since balance sheet due date”).

Note 25
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Financial liabilities 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Current notes payable to banks 25 021 0

Current lease liabilities 2 056 5 270

Other current financial liabilities to third parties 316 90

Other current financial liabilities to associated companies 165 0 

Current financial liabilities 27 558 5 359

Long-term lease liabilities 0 1 971

Long-term loans from third parties 4 736 600 

Long-term loans from associated companies 3 000 0 

Employee benefit liabilities as per IAS 19 8 918 11 769 

Long-term financial liabilities 16 654 14 340 

Total financial liabilities 44 212 19 699

Weighted average interest rate (excluding obligations as per IAS 19)

Within 1 year 2.7% 3.6%

1 to 5 years 4.2% 2.9%

Beyond 5 years n.a. n.a.

The financial liabilities increased by CHF 24.5 million to CHF 44.2 million. 
Current notes payable to banks in the amount of CHF 25.0 million are associated
with the short-term financing used for the takeover of additional shares in Espace
Media Groupe. Lease liabilities were reduced even further in the current year by
CHF 5.2 million. The long-term loans relate to financing portions received from
partners for joint activities.

The employee benefit liabilities as per IAS 19 were lower by CHF 2.9 million for
the most part as a direct result of the sale of Radio Basilisk and several different
Huber Group activities and financial restructuring. Extensive details on how
employee benefit obligations are calculated can be found in Note 22.

Note 26
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Trade accounts payable 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Trade accounts payable to third parties 59 177 41 536

Trade accounts payable to associated companies 4 720 5 574  

Total 63 897 47 110

The total amount of trade accounts payable was CHF 63.9 million, which, as
compared to the previous year, equates to an increase of CHF 16.8 million. As a
result of the merger with Espace Media Groupe, liabilities rose by CHF 20.3 mil-
lion, while they were reduced by CHF 3.6 million for existing activities. Trade
accounts payable are non-interest bearing and are typically payable within a
period of 30 days.

Other current payables 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Payables to public authorities 7 850 5 030

Advance payments from customers 3 547 1 594

Other current accounts payable 9 825 6 686

Total 21 222 13 310

Other current payables increased by CHF 7.9 million to CHF 21.2 million. On the
one hand, the Espace Media Groupe companies accounted for CHF 6.3 million
of the total increase, but on the other hand, other current payables for existing
activities increased by CHF 1.6 million. Other current payables are non-interest
bearing and are typically payable within a period of 30 days.

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Deferred subscription revenues 121 306 107 176 

Other accrued liabilities 45 539 33 690  

Total 166 845 140 866

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities increased from CHF 140.9 million by
CHF 26.0 million or 18 per cent to CHF 166.8 million. While existing activities
showed a reduction of CHF 4.4 million, the merger with Espace Media Groupe led
to an increase by CHF 30.4 million. 

Note 27

Note 28

Note 29
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Provisions
in CHF 000 Long service Personnel Renovation Risk Total

awards provisions and contam- of law-suits,
ination other

removal

Balance as of 1 January 2006 2 134 4 057 2 500 6 446 15 136  

Change in consolidation scope 0 1 074 0 0 1 074

Increase 944 1 698 0 1 452 4 094

Dissolution (232) (1 225) 0 (1 095) (2 552)

Used during the financial year (15) (3 603) 0 (561) (4 179)

Balance as of 31 December 2006 2 831 2 001 2 500 6 241 13 572 

Due within 1 year 763 2 001 0 247 3 011 

Due between 1 and 5 years 2 067 0 2 500 5 994 10 562

Due beyond 5 years 0 0 0 0 0

Balance as of 1 January 2007 2 831 2 001 2 500 6 241 13 572 

Change in consolidation scope 1 679 5 075 0 2 060 8 814

Increase 138 9 450 0 248 9 836

Dissolution (196) (1 423) 0 (664) (2 283)

Used during the financial year (771) (5 418) 0 (479) (6 668)

Balance as of 31 December 2007 3 681 9 685 2 500 7 407 23 272 

Due within 1 year 1 230 5 343 0 974 7 547 

Due between 1 and 5 years 2 450 4 342 2 500 6 423 15 725 

Due beyond 5 years 0 0 0 10 0 

The current and long-term provisions were increased by CHF 9.7 million from CHF 13.6
million to CHF 23.3 million. The consolidation of Espace Media Groupe resulted in in-
creased provisions by CHF 8.8 million. The increase in the current business activities by
CHF 0.9 million was in particular the result of financially restructuring Huber Gruppe.
Consequently, the increase was in essence made up of provisions for personnel, which
were CHF 2.6 million higher during year under review. At the same time, provisions for
long-time service awards was reduced by CHF 0.8 million as well as such for lawsuits and
other risks by CHF 0.9 million. All of the long-term provisions are due within 5 years. 

In the case of long-time service awards, the anticipated costs are provided for the
next five years. The personnel provisions are mainly made up of the costs that are still
expected in conjunction with the decision made on the financial restructuring meas-
ures. The costs for renovation and inherited pollution include estimated costs for
returning rented properties to their original state, if required, once they have been
vacated and guarantees for removal of inherited pollution for properties sold. The due
dates for renovation costs in the case of rented premises depend on the term of the
relevant agreement. The provisions for lawsuit risks relate to current cases. Other pro-
visions include several different items, which, if considered separately, are immateri-
al in nature.

The amount set aside for provisions and the time at which point such will result
in cash outflow is based on best possible estimates and may deviate from actual
circumstances in the future.

Note 30
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Share capital 2007 2006

in CHF 000

10 600 000 fully paid registered shares have been issued, each with a nominal
value of CHF 10. Changes in the number of issued shares are shown in the table
below.

Balance as of 1 January 100 000 100 000

Increase in authorised share capital with 600 000 new shares 6 000 0

Balance as of 31 December 106 000 100 000

A shareholders’ binding agreement exists for 67 per cent of the 10.6 million
registered shares of Tamedia AG. The members of the shareholders’ binding agree-
ment currently own 72 per cent of the shares.

On 3 May 2007, the shareholders approved the recommendation of the Board of
Directors to distribute a dividend of CHF 3.00 per share for the 2006 financial year.
The Board of Directors will recommend to the Annual General Meeting of 27 June
2008 that a dividend of CHF 4.00 per share be distributed for the 2007 financial year.

Treasury shares 2007 2006

Number of treasury shares

Balance as of 1 January 6 741 4 378

Purchases 0 5 000

Sales (2 561) (2 637)

Balance as of 31 December 4 180 6 741

Initial value of treasury shares

in CHF 000

Balance as of 1 January 783 560

Purchases 0 640 

Sales (248) (250)

Balance as of 31 December 0 783 

Fair value at year-end price 535 1 082

Paid/received prices

in CHF

Purchases (weighted average) 0.00 127.90

min. 0.00 127.90 

max. 0.00 127.90

Sales (weighted average) 96.97 94.91

min. 96.97 94.91

max. 96.97 94.91

Note 31

Note 32
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The year-end stock market price of treasury shares was CHF 141.30 compared
with CHF 160.50 in the previous year. The price development can be seen in the
chart shown on page 36.

In the context of the employee share participation programme for the financial
year 2006 (see also Note 45), 2 561 treasury shares valuing in total CHF 0.2 million
were turned in. No other treasury share transactions took place.

Further details on the consolidated financial statements

Joint Ventures 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Current assets 10 861 6 408 

Fixed assets 4 871 1 188

Total assets 15 732 7 596

Current liabilities 10 721 5 031

Long-term liabilities 1 773 427 

Total liabilities 12 495 5 458 

Equity 3 237 2 138

Total liabilities and equity 15 732 7 596

Operating revenues 46 366 35 507 

Operating expenses (46 782) (36 533)

Operating income before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) (416) (1 027)

The information relating to joint ventures include the shares of the companies
incorporated by means of quota consolidation. While the information for the
previous year was limited to TVtäglich and Zuvo, in 2007, the newly established
Edita, RV Radio Vision and the joint ventures Bevo, Berner Oberland Medien and
Infonetz from Espace Media Groupe were added. The details are shown before
elimination of intercompany relationships. For RV Radio Vision, the figures show
income pro-rated for the year until its sale early in December 2007.

Note 33
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Sureties, guarantee obligations and pledges to the benefit 
of third parties 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Subordinated debt 375 2 475 

Joint and several guarantees 0 0 

Total 375 2 475 

The subordinated debt relates to outstanding loans to homegate AG. There are no
further sureties, guarantee obligations or pledged assets to the benefit of third
parties.

With the purchase of homegate AG, Tamedia entered into a joint and several
liability towards the seller for all obligations of the second buyer, Edipresse. Due
to the strong creditworthiness of Edipresse, any risk from the joint and several
liability is considered to be extremely low. Additional shares were purchased by
Edipresse and Tamedia on 18 March 2008 without the need to enter into any
joint and several liability. 

Financial leases 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Financial lease obligations

Due within 1 year 2 092 5 393 

Due between 1 and 5 years 0 2 092

Due beyond 5 years 0 0

Total 2 092 7 485

Less interest component (36) (244)

Financial debt recognised 2 056 7 241 

of which current 2 056 5 270

of which long-term 0 1 971

As part of the IT outsourcing, which took place in autumn 2004, Swisscom IT
Services took over various IT equipment from Tamedia. The equipment was
leased back by Tamedia by means of an agreement, which is due to expire in
2008. The agreement in place that governs the lease of transport equipment is
also due to expire in 2008. The price risk for these fixed-interest lease agreements
has not been hedged.

Note 34

Note 35
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Operating leases and rent commitments 2007 2006

in CHF 000

At this time, rental agreements are in place for real estate as are lease agree-
ments for motor vehicles and office machinery. The lease agreements have a
remaining term of between one and four years and are generally at fixed
conditions. The remaining term for the real estate rental agreements is between
one and five years. A longer term was agreed upon for the real property
Medienhaus Werd in Zurich (13 years, until the end of 2020). Otherwise, no
special agreements have been entered into.

Land, buildings and office premises 42 952 49 392 

Machinery and furnishings 910 1 128

Total 43 862 50 520

Due within 1 year 7 025 6 554

Due between 1 and 5 years 16 638 18 143

Due beyond 5 years 20 200 25 823

Total 43 862 50 520

Costs recognised in the financial year under the item rent, 
lease payments and licences (see also Note 9) 7 997 6 595

Off-balance sheet transactions

One-year framework agreements are entered into with major suppliers of news-
paper and magazine paper. Agreements covering delivery in 2008 were not
signed until after balance sheet date, which is the reason why no commitments
are shown in this category at the end of 2007.

Information on financial risk management

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk management is conducted centrally. Short-term interest rate
risks are generally not hedged. At this time, there is no means to hedge long-term
interest rate risk.

The risk resulting from changes in the market interest rates especially affects
the current financial liabilities in place at this time, which were entered into in
conjunction with the merger with Espace Media Groupe. The following table
shows details on the items that are subject to interest rate risks and the impact
any possible change in interest rates might have on the Group’s earnings before
taxes.  These do not affect equity.

The interest rate for lease liabilities is fixed for the entire term of each agree-
ment.

Note 36

Note 37

Note 38
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2007 2006
Variable Fixed Variable Fixed

interest rate interest rate interest rate interest rate

Assets

Cash & cash equivalents (not including petty cash) 86 923 0 135 914 0

Loans receivable 0 1 750 0 3 040

Other financial receivables 3 691 0 778 0

Liabilities

Current notes payable and liabilities to banks 25 021 0 0 0

Loans payable 0 7 736 0 600

Lease obligations 0 2 056 0 7 241

Other financial liabilities subject to interest 482 0 95 0

Impact on earnings before taxes at a 

change of +/– 0.1% +/– 116 0 +/– 137 0

Exchange rate risk

Risks resulting from fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign currencies may
especially occur when paper is purchased or investments are made. Exchange rate
risks are centrally hedged and thus minimised to the extent that such actions are
considered expedient. 

At this time, exchange rate risks mainly affect purchases that are made in a
foreign currency. In 2007, the total value of such was CHF 9.4 million. These risks
applied for the most part to transactions in EUR in 2007, which were not hedged.
At this time, no major revenue is made in any other currency other than in CHF.

Other exchange rate risks are the result of business transactions conducted by
the joint venture company Edita S.A., which operates in Luxembourg and con-
ducts business in EUR. At this time, these risks are not being hedged.

The effects of a possible change in the exchange rates of 5 percent on the results
before tax and the equity capital come to CHF 0.1 million at the end of 2007, as
was the case in the previous year.

Risks of bad debts

The trade accounts receivable are constantly monitored using standardised proces-
ses, which are also supported by external debt collection agency partners. Standard
guidelines are used to make the necessary value adjustments (see also: Valuation
guideline for accounts receivable). The danger of cluster risks is minimised because
of the large number receivables and their broad span from customers in all the
market segments. Quantative information on credit risks resulting from opera-
tions can be found in Note 18 on trade accounts receivable.

Any credit risk as a result of other financial values might occur in the event that
the other party experiences a business failure, whereby the maximum risk would
amount to the current book value.
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Capital management

The capital defined in conjunction with capital management is equal to the
stated equity.

The purpose of capital management is to ascertain that the objectives listed
below are achieved. The amount of capital necessary for day-to-day operations is
to be drawn from funds earned by the Group itself. Financial obligations and
liabilities should generally have been repaid within a period of one year by
means of the Group’s own funds. The main goal is to be able to pay dividends to
shareholders in range of 35–45 per cent of corporate earnings. In the long-term,
the self-financing ratio should be significantly higher than 50 per cent. 

in CHF 000 Not yet due / Up to 3 months 4 to 12 months Between Beyond 5 years Total

at call 1 and 5 years

Financial liabilities (not including IAS 19) 482 26 353 724 7 736 0 35 294

Trade accounts payable 26 387 37 466 45 0 0 63 897

Other liabilities 21 222 0 0 0 0 21 222

Total 2007 48 091 63 818 769 7 736 0 120 414 

Financial liabilities (not including IAS 19) 90 1 317 3 952 2 571 0 7 930

Trade accounts payable 12 277 34 582 251 0 0 47 110

Other liabilities 13 310 0 0 0 0 13 310

Total 2006 25 677 35 899 4 203 2 571 0 68 351

Liquidity risk

The risk of not having enough current assets to satisfy obligations is accounted
for in a liquidity plan, which is continuously updated. The liquidity plan takes
both business transactions of everyday operations into account as well as up-
dated accounts receivable and liabilities.

In order to optimise available financial resources, liquidity management and
long-term financing is conducted centrally. This allows for a cost-effective means
of procuring capital in addition to availability of liquid assets attuned to the pay-
ment obligations.

The due dates of financial obligations are shown in the table below.
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Financial instruments
in CHF 000 2007 2006

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 87 050 87 050 136 024 136 024

Current financial assets 58 58 78 78

Current financial receivables 3 691 3 691 778 778

Other long-term financial assets 1 2 788 2 728 4 132 3 824

Current financial liabilities 27 558 27 558 5 359 5 359

Long-term financial liabilitie 1 7 736 7 736 2 638 2 638 

1 Not including employee benefit assets / liabilities from IAS 19

Wherever possible, the fair value is determined by market prices. Alternately, the
Group applies its own calculations. These are generally based on the discounted
cash flow method.

Forward currency contracts / swaps: 2007 2006

Contract volume 0 0

Fair value, currently due 0 0

Within 1 year 0 0 

Between 1 and 5 years 0 0 

Beyond 5 years 0 0 

Information on cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges recorded directly in equity as of 31 December 0 0

Used as part of the hedge foreseen 0 608 

Recorded directly to net income 0 62

There were no more forward contracts or currency swaps in place as of balance
sheet date as a means to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from the
framework agreements for newspaper and magazine paper.

Note 39
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Encumbrance of assets 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Mortgages and long-term advances secured by land and buildings 414 414 

related to land and buildings with a net book value of 4 500 6 196

Subscription insurance secured by assets 499 581  

From bank account balances with a value of 901 900

Assets pledged as collateral or subject to liens 913 995  

related to assets with a consolidated value of 5 401 7 096

The disclosed amount for liabilities secured by mortgages includes the interest
for the construction loan for the Radio Basilisk property, which was sold after
balance sheet date, with a maturity of a maximum of three years. At balance sheet
date, there were no open liabilities in connection with pledged assets or such
subject to liens.

Fire insurance value of property, plant and equipment 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Total 838 265 646 991

Note 40

Note 41



88

Tamedia Group

Investments

The Group companies as of 31 December 2007 are as follows:

Name Domicile Currency Share capital Business Consolidation Share of Share of
in CHF 000 division method Group capital Group voting

2007 rights 2007

Tamedia AG Zurich CHF 106 000 N, M, E, S V – –
Belcom AG Zurich CHF 506 E V 100.0% 100.0%

Radio 24 AG Zurich CHF 100 E V 100.0% 100.0%
Zürivision AG1 Zurich CHF 60 E V 66.6% 66.6%

Betriebsgesellschaft SonntagsZeitung 2 Zurich CHF – N V 99.8% 99.8%
Edita S.A. Luxemburg EUR 50 N Q 50.0% 50.0%
Espace Media Groupe [AG] Berne CHF 1 100 S V 97.2% 97.2%

Benteli Hallwag Druck AG Wabern CHF 1 000 S V 97.2% 97.2%
Berner Zeitung AG Berne CHF 500 N, E V 98.6% 98.6%

Burgdorfer Tagblatt AG Burgdorf CHF 82 N E 29.6% 29.6%
Conradio-TV AG Berne CHF 300 E V 98.6% 98.6%
Espace Media Radio AG Berne CHF 367 E V 78.8% 78.8%
Infonetz AG Biel CHF 200 E Q 49.3% 49.3%
Telebärn AG Berne CHF 1 650 E V 75.2% 75.2%
Verlag Murtenbieter Murten CHF 100 N V 98.6% 98.6%

Bevo AG Berne CHF 100 S Q 49.3% 49.3%
Büchler Grafino AG Wabern CHF 10 000 M, S V 97.2% 97.2%

Bantiger Post Verlags AG Ostermundigen CHF 100 N V 97.2% 97.2%
Betriebsgesellschaft Schweizer Bauer Wabern CHF – N V 47.6% 47.6%
Einfache Gesellschaft Druckzentrum Berne CHF 0 S V 77.8% 77.8%
SOWO Wochenblatt AG Solothurn CHF 100 N V 97.2% 97.2%
Verlags-AG «Schweizer Bauer» Wabern CHF 100 N V 47.6% 47.6%
ZEWE AG Berne CHF 150 S V 97.2% 97.2%

Schaer Thun AG Thun CHF 2 250 S V 97.2% 97.2%
Berner Oberland Medien AG Uetendorf CHF 500 N Q 48.6% 48.6%

Radio Canal 3 AG Biel CHF 200 M E 30.5% 30.5%
Express Zeitung AG Zurich CHF 100 N V 100.0% 100.0%

20 Minuten AG Zurich CHF 5 000 N, M, E V 100.0% 100.0%
homegate AG Adliswil CHF 10 000 E E 16.5% 16.5%
Huber & Co. AG Frauenfeld CHF 1 500 E, S V 100.0% 100.0%

Huber PrintPack AG Frauenfeld CHF 1 250 S V 80.0% 80.0%
Thurgauer Medien AG Frauenfeld CHF 1 000 N V 100.0% 100.0%
Zeitungs-Verlag AG Hinterthurgau Eschlikon CHF 100 N V 100.0% 100.0%

Medag AG für Medienarbeit Basle CHF 224 E V 100.0% 100.0%
Metro Media AG, in Liquidation Basle CHF 100 E E 25.0% 25.0%

NP News Print AG (formerly Facts-Media AG) Zurich CHF 100 M V 74.7% 74.7%
Piazza AG Zurich CHF 100 E V 100.0% 100.0%
Presse Publicité Rep SA Geneva CHF 200 S V 100.0% 100.0%
PrintOnline AG Schlieren CHF 1 600 S E 25.0% 25.0%
Schweizerische Depeschenagentur AG Berne CHF 2 000 S A 10.9% 10.9%
SMD Schweizer Mediendatenbank AG Zurich CHF 900 S E 33.3% 33.3%

Swissdox AG Zurich CHF 100 S E 33.3% 33.3%
Tagblatt der Stadt Zürich AG Zurich CHF 200 N V 85.0% 85.0%
Tages-Anzeiger Verlag AG Zurich CHF 100 N V 100.0% 100.0%
tilllate (Schweiz) AG Adliswil CHF 100 E E 20.0% 20.0%
TVtäglich 2 Zurich CHF – M Q 50.0% 50.0%

Note 42
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Transactions with associated companies and related parties
in CHF 000

For the most part, transactions between Tamedia Group and associated companies had to do with the fields delivery,
printing and publishing revenue.

Associated companies Joint ventures 1 Directors and

executive officers

in CHF 000 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Operating revenues 16 048 10 222 7 681 1 695 0 0

Operating expenses (36 371) (36 828) (37 909) (33 261) (11 559) (7 927) 

Financial income, net 46 0 104 7 0 0

Trade accounts receivable 3 611 1 698 3 789 1 333 0 0

Loans receivable 1 325 2 600 1 050 0 0

Trade accounts payable 4 708 5 562 4 421 3 154 0 0

Current financial liabilities 165 0 6 000 0 0 0

Long-term liabilities  3 000 0 0 0 0 0

1 50% joint ventures are recorded in the financial statements using the quota consolidation method. The share of transactions with other Group companies is eliminated on consolidation, and the non-consolidated
share is shown under receivables or payables from or to associated companies. In this table, the transactions are shown to their full extent and itemised separately for associated companies and joint ventures.

Business segment: Method of consolidation

N= Newspapers V = Full consolidation

M= Magazines Q= Quota consolidation

E = Electronic media E = Equity valuation

S = Services A = Valued at initial cost or fair value

Explanations detailing the major changes to the consolidated investments are given in Note 1, and any such to investments
in associated companies are given in Note 11.

Note 43

Name Domicile Currency Share capital Business Consolidation Share of Share of 
in CHF 000 division method Group capital Group voting

2007 rights 2007

Uster Nachrichten AG Uster CHF 100 N V 100.0% 100.0%
Verlag Finanz und Wirtschaft AG Zurich CHF 1 000 N V 100.0% 100.0%
Verlags-AG SonntagsZeitung Zurich CHF 1 000 N V 99.8% 99.8%
Waser Druck AG Buchs ZH CHF 2 500 S V 100.0% 100.0%
Winner AG Zurich CHF 100 E V 100.0% 100.0%
Ziegler Druck- und Verlags-AG Winterthur CHF 3 326 N, M, E, S E 20.0% 20.0%
Zuvo Zustell- und Vertriebsorganisation AG Zurich CHF 1 500 S Q 50.0% 50.0%

AZ Vertriebs AG Aarau CHF 100 S A 12.5% 12.5%
PVG Pressevertriebs GmbH Lucerne CHF 102 S E 25.0% 25.0%
Südostschweiz Pressevertrieb AG Chur CHF 100 S A 17.5% 17.5%

1 33.3% of each held by Tamedia AG and Belcom AG

2 Sole proprietorship
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There are no transactions with associated parties with the exception of such
transactions with members of the Board of Directors and Executive Manage-
ment as shown in Notes 44 and 45.

Remuneration of directors and executive officers

The compensation shown reflects the expenditures debited affecting net income
during the year under review (irrespective of the dates on which it was paid).
Considered among acting directors and executive officers are also those persons
who completed their tenure during the reporting year. No compensation was paid
to former directors or executive officers.

Type of compensation Directors 1 Executive officer Total

in CHF 000 2007 3 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Number of members 10 8 6 6 16 14

Fees/Salaries 2 011 2 115 2 762 2 673 4 773 4 788 

Profit-sharing and 
additional bonus 2 0 0 3 428 2 255 3 428 2 255 

Pension and social security 
contributions 3 266 182 773 581 1 039 763

Expense reimbursements 131 120 108 108 239 228 

Other compensation 1 5584 0 5225 0 2 080 0

Total 3 966 2 418 7 593 5 509 11 559 7 927 

1 The Board of Directors currently consists of members who are not executive officers.
2 The programme will only take effect in the event that Tamedia exceeds a profit margin before tax of 10%. In 2007, five of six executive

officers were entitled to participate (in 2006, it was also five of six).
3 To date, included in the pension and social security contributions were expenditures that were available to the insured persons directly.

Now added to such are also any and all old age, disabled and survivor’s benefits, old age and life insurance and accident insurance bene-
fits. The values for previous years were adjusted accordingly.

4 According to the decision by the Board of Directors in March 2007, compensation in this amount was paid for Hans Heinrich Coninx’ retirement.
5 All other compensation in the amount of CHF 0.5 million reflect the costs of releasing two executive officers resigning from office within

their regular notice period. There were no expenditures for termination pay.

Remuneration for the members of the Board of Directors 2007

Type of compensation Hans Heinrich Robert Ueli Konstantin Iwan

in CHF 000 Coninx 1 Karrer Maurer Richter Rickenbacher

Fees/Salaries  347 120 100 100 270

Profit-sharing and 
additional bonus 0 0 0 0 0

Pension and social security 
contributions 114 5 6 6 15

Expense reimbursements 15 12 12 12 12

Other compensation 1 558 0 0 0 0

Total 2 034 137 118 118 297

Note 44
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Type of compensation Andreas Karl Pietro Charles Christina Total

in CHF 000 Schulthess 2 Dietrich Supino 3 von von

Seikel Graffenried 4 Wackerbarth

Fees/Salaries 67 100 757 50 100 2 011

Profit-sharing and 
additional bonus 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pension and social security 
contributions 4 6 102 2 6 266

Expense reimbursements 8 12 30 6 12 131

Other compensation 0 0 0 0 0 1 558

Total 79 118 889 58 118 3 966

1 Until 3 May 2007  
2 As of 3 May 2007 
3 Until 3 May 2007 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, since then, Chairman of the Board of Directors
4 As of 27 June 2007 

Additional fees and compensation 

During the year under review, Tamedia compensated the von Graffenried Group,
owned by Charles von Graffenried, for services rendered in the field of real estate,
law, taxation and trusts to the benefit of Espace Media Groupe with total fees of
CHF 0.8 million.

Shares owned by members of the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2007

Shares Pietro Robert Ueli Konstantin Iwan

in units Supino 1 Karrer Maurer Richter Rickenbacher

Shares owned personally 33 338 6 000 1 200 16 229 50

Total shares owned 
including such held 
by related parties 1 439 159 6 000 1 200 105 454 400

Shares Andreas Karl Charles Christina

in units Schulthess 2 Dietrich von Graf- von

Seikel fenried 3 Wackerbarth

Shares owned personally 200 0 166 104 0

Total shares owned 
including such held
by related parties 1 256 572 0 166 104 300

1 Until 3 May 2007 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, since then, Chairman of the Board of Directors
2 As of 3 May 2007   
3 As of 27 June 2007 
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Shares owned by executive officers as of 31 December 2007

Shares Martin Christoph Rolf Jürg Andreas Uli

in units Kall Tonini Bollmann Brauchli Meili Rubner

Shares owned personally 0 0 0 3 847 1 953 0

Total shares owned 
including such held 
by related parties 0 0 0 3 847 1 953 0

Highest compensation paid in 2007 to an executive officer

Type of compensation Martin Kall

in CHF 000

Fee/Salary 810

Profit-sharing and additional bonus 1 554

Pension and social security contributions 197

Expense reimbursements 18

Total 2 580

Employee profit participation plan

For the years 2007 until 2008, the Tamedia Board of Directors approved an
employee profit participation model. Profit participation benefits will be paid in
the event that Tamedia achieves an operating income margin (EBIT to revenues)
of at least 5 per cent. As soon as the operating income (EBIT) exceeds 5 per cent of
revenues, 5 per cent of the amount exceeding that margin will be paid out to each
of the Tamedia employees. The employees will be given the option to draw their
profit participation benefits in the form of cash or in shares. The conversion of
the profit participation in shares will on average be the shares’ closing price within
the last ten days before the shares are purchased. According to the regulations,
the Board of Directors may increase the number of determined shares to be in-
cluded in the profit participation at the expense of the company. The increase
may be at least 10 per cent and is determined anew each year. The shares are sub-
ject to a blocking period of one year.

For the 2007 financial year, a decision was made to increase the shares drawn
in the profit participation programme by 20 per cent (previous year: 20 per cent).
The cost of the additional shares was borne by Tamedia and are recorded in the
amount anticipated in the financial statements for 2007 affecting net income as
a personnel expense. The fulfilment of entitlements comes from the stock of
treasury shares. 164 employees drew their profit participation from the results for
2006 in the form of shares. The number of issued shares amounted to 2 561.

Note 45
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Significant events since balance sheet date

Benteli Hallwag

The printing business of Benteli Hallwag will be sold to Farbendruck Weber AG,
a company located in Biel, on 1 June 1008. By concentrating production at the
location in Biel, the largest commercial printing company in the Canton of
Berne will operate under the name Weber Benteli, employing a staff of around
300 and with sales of over CHF 90 million. Benteli Hallwag, a company
specialising in sheet-fed printing and offset rotary printing as well as in
publishing services, publishing house logistics and cross media, brings custom-
er relationships of many years and more than 60 magazines and periodicals to
the collaborative partnership. Moreover, 75 full-time positions, including 
eight apprenticeship positions, will be secured long-term. At the same time, 
by giving up the printing location in Wabern and merging the pro-
duction capacities, 56 full-time jobs and temporary jobs will be lost at Benteli
Hallwag. For 13 other employees, the goal is to offer them an early retirement
option.

homegate  AG

On 18 March 2008, Tamedia took the next step of increasing its investment in
homegate AG from 16.5 per cent to 45.0 per cent. The purchase price for the
additionally acquired 28.5 per cent of shares was calculated based on revenue-
dependent values. Along with Edipresse, based on contractual agreements
governing the assumption of these shares, Tamedia will exercise controlling
interest in the company’s financial and operational decisions. For this reason,
Tamedia’s interest will in future be reported based on a quota consolidated
method.

Radio 24

The licence granted by the Swiss Federal Department for Environment,
Transport Sector, Energy and Communication (UVEK = Departement für Umwelt,
Verkehr, Energie und Kommunikation) is due to expire in 2008. Radio 24 AG has
submitted an application to continue services in the broadcast provision area 23
(Zurich-Glarus). For this area, UVEK has received more applications than the
number of licences scheduled to be issued. Should the licence not be issued, the
result will be that the operation will need to be discontinued, because adver-
tisement revenue will no longer be generated. Although it is technically conceiv-
able that alternate routes (e.g. Internet radio) may be taken to continue
operations, because of the mini-mised broadcasting range, this would lead to an
almost complete loss of advertisement revenue.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the application requesting that a
licence be issued will most likely be granted and UVEK will in effect issue the
licence. The Board of Directors is therefore convinced of the certainty that the
company will continue operations and thus the pre-condition for the rendering
of accounts at continued values is at hand. If, contrary to expectations, the

Note 46
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licence should not be issued, the requirements for continuation of the company
will not be at hand and the values would need to be converted to liquidation
figures.

The changeover to liquidation values would mean that in the group’s state-
ment of accounts the goodwill of the Electronic Media division amounting to
CHF 36.4 million would have to be fully adjusted. Any depreciation of the good-
will to be included depends on the re-assessment of the situation after the con-
cession decision.

TeleZüri 

The licence issued by UVEK for TeleZüri is due to expire in 2008. For this reason,
Tamedia AG submitted an application on 5 December 2007 to continue services
in the broadcast provision area 10 (north eastern Switzerland) for which a call
for bids was announced.  Two applications for licences were submitted for this
broadcast provision area, for which only one broadcasting licence will be issued.
Should TeleZüri not receive the licence, broadcasting operations could be main-
tained without a licence. However, in this case, the guaranteed access to cable
networks would no longer be available. As a result, TeleZüri’s signal transmission
to the central distribution channel for television reception would be at risk. Also,
if a licence is issued to a competitor, TeleZüri’s weak financial performance would
also be an additional burden.  

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the application requesting that a
licence be issued will most likely be granted and UVEK will in effect issue the
licence. The Board of Directors is therefore convinced of the certainty that the
company will continue operations and thus the pre-condition for the rendering
of accounts at continued values is at hand. If, contrary to expectations, the
licence should not be issued, it will be questionable whether the company will
be able to continue operations.

The impact of any such events cannot be accurately assessed at this point in
time. There have been no other significant events since balance sheet date.

Tamedia Group
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Report of the Group auditors

To the General Meeting of Tamedia AG, Zurich

As group auditors, we have audited the consolidated financial statements
(balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes; pages 38 to 94)
of Tamedia AG for the year ended 31 December 2007.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of
directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal
requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards and the
International Standards of Auditing (ISA), which require that an audit be planned
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on
a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, 
significant estimates made and the overall consolidated financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accor-
dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply
with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be
approved.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to note 46 of the
consolidated financial statements where a material uncertainty in relation to the
pending decision regarding the request for the concession of Radio 24 is described.
If, contrary to the belief of the board of directors, the concession is not received,
the respective goodwill recorded in the segment “Electronic Media” of CHF 36.4
million would be impaired.

Zurich, dated 15 April 2008

Ernst & Young AG

Yves Vontobel Felix Ort
Swiss Certified Accountant Swiss Certified Accountant

(in charge of audit)
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Income statement 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Media revenues 433 532 419 931 

Printing revenues 59 956 55 134 

Income from release of unused provisions 603 1 161 

Other operating income 39 323 31 097 

Other operating revenues 39 926 32 259 

Changes in inventories 34 86 

Operating revenues 533 448 507 410 

Costs of material and services (128 964) (120 594)

Personnel expenses (162 185) (154 619)

Other operating expenses (146 951) (137 492)

Operating income before depreciation and amortisation 95 348 94 704 

Depreciation and amortisation (11 366) (12 263)

Operating income 83 982 82 441 

Gain on sales of subsidiaries 8 114 0 

Other financial income 33 424 13 961 

Financial income 41 538 13 961 

Financial expense (4 491) (6 176)

Financial income, net 37 047 7 785 

Income before extraordinary items 121 029 90 226 

Extraordinary expense (13) (621)

Income before taxes 121 016 89 605 

Taxes (4 424) (17 574)

Net income 116 592 72 030 

The notes form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements. 
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Balance sheet

Assets 2007 2006

In CHF 000, as of 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents 17 344 69 235 

Marketable securities 614 1 082 

Trade accounts receivable

from third parties, net of all allowance for bad debts 60 877 63 973 

from associated parties and shareholders 1 284 582 

from Group companies 6 528 5 190 

Trade accounts receivable 68 689 69 746 

Other accounts receivable

from third parties 3 778 1 223 

from Group companies 1 540 2 698 

Other accounts receivable 5 318 3 921 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

from third parties 4 506 6 865 

from Group companies 2 389 2 730 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 6 895 9 594 

Inventories 1 526 1 566 

Current assets 100 386 155 144 

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings and fixtures 70 000 70 771 

Other property, plant and equipment 87 681 89 724 

Property, plant and equipment 157 680 160 495 

Long-term investments

Long-term investments, net of allowance 613 403 241 705 

Other long-term investments

with third parties 1 081 1 491 

with associated parties and shareholders 330 2 475 

with Group companies 81 877 107 900 

Long-term investments 696 692 353 571 

Intangible assets 3 614 3 320 

Fixed assets 857 986 517 386 

Assets 958 372 672 530 

The notes form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements. 
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Liabilities and equity Note 2007 2006

In CHF 000, as of 31 December

Current financial liabilities 27 056 5 270 

Trade accounts payable

to third parties 26 478 26 914 

to associated parties and shareholders 2 617 3 314 

to Group companies 3 723 3 780 

Trade accounts payable 32 818 34 008 

Other current payables

to third parties 9 496 9 341 

to Group companies 5 268 1 827 

Other current payables 14 763 11 168 

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities

from third parties 126 080 126 874 

from Group companies 5 430 1 470 

Deferred revenues and accrued liabilities 131 510 128 344 

Current liabilities 206 148 178 790 

Long-term financial liabilities

to third parties 0 1 971 

to Group companies 85 800 18 400 

Long-term financial liabilities 85 800 20 371 

Provisions 6 906 7 374 

Long-term liabilities 92 706 27 744 

Total liabilities 298 854 206 534 

Share capital 1 106 000 100 000 

Reserves

Additional paid-in surplus 1 100 931 0

General legal reserves 50 000 50 000 

Reserves for treasury shares 535 783 

Free reserves 2 285 461 243 183 

Retained earnings

Balance brought forward 0 0 

Net income from current year 116 592 72 030 

Reserves 553 518 365 996 

Equity 659 518 465 996 

Liabilities and equity 958 372 672 530 

The notes form an integral part of the Annual Financial Statements.  
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Notes to the annual financial statements 

Basic principles

The annual financial statements of Tamedia AG are prepared under the stipula-
tions of Swiss Corporation Law. They supplement the consolidated financial
statements which are prepared under International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (pages 38 to 94). The net profit reported in these annual financial state-
ments is the decisive figure to be considered for the appropriation of profit that
is to be decided upon by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

While the consolidated financial statements provide information on the eco-
nomic situation of the Group as a whole, the information shown in the annual
financial statements of Tamedia AG (pages 96 to 102) solely relate to the Group’s
parent company. Due to the differing accounting and reporting principles used
in the financial statements (consolidated statements under IFRS and parent
company statements under Corporation Law); they are only comparable to a
limited extent.

The following list shows the most significant products and services managed
directly by the parent company, Tamedia AG. The investments of Tamedia AG are
shown in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Newspapers

– SonntagsZeitung

– Tages-Anzeiger

– Stellenmarkt

Magazines

– Annabelle

– Das Magazin

– Schweizer Familie

Electronic media

– alpha.ch

– Job Winner.ch

– TeleZüri

Services

– Customer Contact Center

– Production Services

– Tamedia Druckzentrum
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Notes

Share capital 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Balance as of 1 January 100 000 100 000

Share issued in the context of acquisitions 6 000 0 

Balance as of 31 December 106 000 243 183 

The extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting of Tamedia AG of 27 June 2007
approved the creation of authorised capital in the amount of CHF 6 million by
issuing a maximum of 600000 registered shares at a nominal value of CHF 10.00
each in conjunction with the merger between Tamedia and Espace Media
Groupe. On 27 September 2007, the Board of Directors decided that the capital
increase would be made to the full extent allowed and the issuing amount per
share was set at CHF 180.00 (including CHF 170.00 additional paid-in surplus).
The new capital of CHF 6.0 million was released entirely on 1 October 2007 as a
part of the merger by means of the non-cash contributions / transfer of assets.
The total amount of premiums is CHF 102.0 million.

Change in free reserves 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Balance as of 1 January 243 183 198 043

(Withdrawal from)/Allocation to free reserves 42 030 45 529

Transfer from reserves for treasury shares 248 (389) 

Balance as of 31 December 285 461 243 183

Sureties, guarantee obligations and pledges to the benefit 
of third parties 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Joint and several guarantees 0 0 

Subordinated debt 330 2 475

Guarantees none none

Guarantees for the benefit of Group companies 1 100 1 000  

Deposit guarantees none none

Subordinated debt for Group companies 10 860 9 200

Total 12 180 12 675

of which provided for 5 260 3 600

Note 1

Note 2

Note 3
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With the purchase of homegate AG, Tamedia entered into a joint and several
liability to the vendor for the obligations of the second buyer, Edipresse. The
extent of the joint and several liability essentially depends upon the purchase
price for the additional shares to be assumed in a second phase in early 2008. The
purchase price amount will be calculated based on revenue-dependent figures.
Due to the strong creditworthiness of Edipresse, any risk from the joint and sev-
eral liability is considered to be extremely low. 

Assets pledged as collateral for own liabilities 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Land and buildings, at net book value 70 000 70 771 

Liens (mortgage notes), total nominal value 79 450 79 450

of which self-owned (freely available) 79 450 79 450

Pledged as collateral for own liabilities 0 0

Credit drawn, i.e. security granted for fixed advance 0 0 

Marketable securities pledged as collateral for subscriptions 499 581 

Lease obligations 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Lease obligations (future commitments) 2 055 8 542

of which current 2 055 5 876 

of which long-term 0 2 666 

Fire insurance value of property, plant and equipment 

(incl. replacement at new value) 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Buildings 186 774 158 835 

Machinery and furnishings (including  inventories) 441 000 441 000  

Liabilities to employee benefit plans 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Current account with Tamedia pension funds 0 0

Current account with other pension funds 221 236

Note 4

Note 5

Note 6

Note 7
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Change in hidden reserves 2007 2006

in CHF 000

Change in hidden reserves (8 299) (8 128)

Investments

See Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation for and shares owned by directors and executive officers

See Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Significant events since balance sheet date

See Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 8

Note 9

Note 10

Note 11

Tamedia AG
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Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors recommends to the General Meeting of Shareholders of
27 June 2008 that the accumulated profit for the financial year 2007, namely:

2007 2006

in CHF 000

Net income 116 592  72 030

Balance brought forward 0 0

Retained earnings 116 592  72 030

be appropriated as follows:

Payment of dividends 1 42 400 30 000

Allocation to general legal reserve 0 0

Allocation to free reserve 74 192 42 030 

Balance to be carried forward 0 0

1 Dividends on shares, which, on the date of dividend payment are held by Tamedia AG (“treasury shares”), will be allocated to free reserves.

Zurich, 11 April 2008

On behalf of the Board of Directors
The Chairman
Pietro Supino
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Report of the statutory auditors

To the General Meeting of Tamedia AG, Zurich

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial
statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes; pages 96 to 102) of
Tamedia AG for the year ended 31 December 2007.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning profes-
sional qualification and impartiality.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards, which
require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatements. We have examined the evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements based on random samples. We have also
assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the 
proposed appropriation of the net profits (page 103) comply with Swiss law and
the company’s Articles of Association.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Zürich, 15 April 2008

Ernst & Young AG

Yves Vontobel Felix Ort
Swiss Certified Accountant Swiss Certified Accountant

(in charge of audit)



Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance

Group structure and shareholders

Group structure

The Group’s operation structure is shown on page 9 of the annual report.

Included in the companies to be consolidated is the following company listed at
the stock exchange:

Name Tamedia AG, Zurich
Location of registration SWX Swiss Exchange, Switzerland

Registered since October 2, 2000
Market capitalisation: see Section “Capital structure”
Treasury shares (as of 31 December 2007) 4 180
Securities number 1117825
Symbol:
• Bloomberg TAMN SW
• Reuters TDAAF.PK

Group companies not listed are shown in note 42 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Significant shareholders

Significant shareholders and groups of significant shareholders and their
holdings in Tamedia, to the extent known to Tamedia, are illustrated in the fol-
lowing table.

105
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Principal shareholders 2007 1 2006 2 2005 2

in %

Dr. Severin Coninx, Berne 13.58% 14.39% 14.39% 

Rena Maya Coninx Supino, Zurich 12.95% 13.72% 13.72% 

Dr. Hans Heinrich Coninx, Küsnacht 11.93% 12.64% 12.64% 

Annette Coninx Kull, Wettswil a.A. 11.85% 12.56% 12.56% 

Ellermann Lawena Stiftung, FL-Vaduz 6.94% 7.36% 7.36% 

Ellermann Pyrit GmbH, Stuttgart, Germany 6.93% 7.35% 7.35% 

Ellermann Rappenstein Stiftung, FL-Vaduz 5.86% 6.21% 6.21% 

Other members of the shareholder’s agreement 1.77% 1.86% 1.86% 

Total members of the shareholder’s group 71.80% 76.09% 76.09% 

Tweedy Browne Company LLC 5.88% 5.28% 5.28%

Montalto Holding AG, Zug 1.83%

Charles von Graffenried, Berne 1.57%

Epicea Holding AG, Zug 1.42%

Other members of the shareholder’s group 0.85%

Total members of the shareholder’s group Espace 5.67%

Regula Hauser-Coninx, Weggis 4.63%

1 The percentages relate to the number of the totally issued 10.6 million registered shares.
2 Each as of 31 December. The percentages relate to the number of the totally issued 10 million registered shares.

The disclosure obligation in compliance with Art. 20 BEHG and the Ordinance
of the Federal Banking Commission on Stock Exchange and Securities Trading
was satisfied based on the publication in the Swiss Commercial Gazette, in par-
ticular those notices published on 6 and 9 July 2007.

In this connection, the following central features of the shareholders’ agree-
ment of the founding family are also made available to the public:

• All shareholders who are members of the founding family (pool shareholders),
with the exception of Regula Hauser-Coninx, are bound by the shareholders’
agreement (pool agreement). The pool agreement took effect as of the date of
registration for a period of eight years, with the option to extend the agree-
ment until 2017.

• Among other things, the pool agreement serves the purpose of coordinating
the voting rights of pool members with regard to their representation in the
Board of Directors. 

• It also governs how pool shareholders exercise their voting rights in conjunc-
tion with other topics requiring the approval of shareholders, such as determi-
ning dividends. 

• Pool shareholders are notified of other issues brought before the shareholders during
their General Meeting prior to such meeting. If two thirds of the voting rights
represented by the pool members at their meeting are cast for any such issue, the
pool shareholders must unanimously vote in favour of said issue at their meeting.
Otherwise, pool members are at liberty to exercise their voting rights as they choose.
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•The agreement does not relate to the responsibilities of the Board of Directors
or to the management of Tamedia or to that of its subsidiaries.

• The agreement includes a pre-purchase right for all parties to the sharehold-
ers’ agreement in the event that a pool shareholder wishes to sell his/her
shares to an independent third party (either with or without compensation).
Should this be the case, said shareholder must first offer his/her shares to the
pool members. The other pool members have the right to purchase such shares
at the current market price less a 20 per cent reduction. 

• Pool members represent a group of shareholders, who act in conformity with
the requirements of Art. 20, paragraph 3 of the Swiss Federal Stock Exchange
and Securities Trading Act. Any future exchange of shares amongst the current
pool members will not result in the obligation to provide notice and to make
public any such exchange. If, however, the entire pool should sell shares and
as such the percentage of pooled shares should fall below the legal thresholds
(e.g. below 662/3 per cent or below 50 per cent), the pool shall be required to in-
form the Swiss Stock Exchange and Tamedia. An obligation to notify shall also
exist if a new member is added to the pool or one pool member no longer holds
any shares.

•The shareholders pooled in the shareholder pool agreement, consisting of
members of the founding family, held 71.80 per cent of the Tamedia registered
shares on balance sheet date, of which 71.79 per cent were subject to the
provisions stipulated in the shareholders’ pool agreement.

•The shareholders pooled in the Espace shareholders’ group entered into an
agreement with Tamedia AG with regard to taking over 80 per cent of Espace
Media Groupe’s share capital. Upon completion of the merger, the members of
the Espace shareholders’ group acquired 5.66 per cent of Tamedia AG register-
ed shares within the scope of a capital increase and thus form an organised
group until expiration of the six-month lockup period provided for in the pool
agreement.

•The members of the shareholders’ group Espace held 5.67 per cent of the
Tamedia registered shares on balance sheet date, of which 5.66 per cent were
subject to the six-month lockup period.

Cross-shareholdings

During the current financial year, there were no cross-shareholders based on 
either capital shareholdings or on voting rights.
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Capital structure

Capital structure and change in capital structure

Capital structure 2007 2006 2005

in CHF mill.

Ordinary share capital 106.0 100.0 100.0

Ordinary increase in capital 0 0 0

Conditional share capital 0 0 0

Conditional increase in capital 0 0 0

Participation certificates 0 0 0

Dividend-rights certificates 0 0 0

Convertible bonds 0 0 0

Additional information with regard to the changes in equity can be found in the
changes in equity on page 41 of the consolidated financial statements.

Registered shares 2007 2006 2005

In units

Nominal value 10 10 10

Voting rights per share 1 1 1

Number of issued shares 10 600 000 10 000 000 10 000 000

Number of shares entitled to dividends 10 600 000 10 000 000 10 000 000

Total number of voting rights 10 595 820 9 993 259  9 995 622 

Number of outstanding shares (weighted average) 10 143 172 9 995 085  9 995 018 

Number of treasury shares 
(as of balance sheet date) 4 180  6 741 4 378 

There are no differences in dividend rights or other priority rights with the
exception of those described in the following section “Limitations on transfer-
ability and nominee registrations”.

Details with regard to market capitalisation may be found in the information
for investors on page XY. 

Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations

Upon request, purchasers of registered shares shall be registered as shareholders
with voting rights if they specifically declare that they have purchased such shares
on their own behalf and at their own expense.

The Board of Directors may deny registration of the purchaser as a shareholder
with voting rights or beneficiaries to the extent that the shares held by the share-
holder should exceed 5 per cent of the total number of shares registered in the
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commercial register. Legal entities and partnerships, which are bound or affiliated
in terms of capital and voting rights by a common management or in any other
form, as well as individuals, legal entities and partnerships acting in concert or in
view of circumventing the provision at hand, shall be considered to be one person.

Shareholders who were registered as of 14 September 2000 in the share register,
or purchasers who are family members of such shareholders, shall be exempt from
this restriction on registration.

During the reporting year, no exceptions to said regulations were granted. 
The Board of Directors may register nominees in the share register with voting

rights of up to a maximum of 3 per cent of the share capital registered in the com-
mercial register  Nominees are such persons, who when applying for registration,
do not specifically declare that they hold the shares on their own behalf. The Bo-
ard of Directors may register nominees with more than 3 per cent of the registe-
red share capital granting them voting rights so far as the nominee in question has
provided the company with the names, addresses and number of shares held by
such persons for whom he/she holds 0.5 per cent or more of the number of
registered share entered in the commercial register. The Board of Directors may
conclude agreements with such nominees, which govern, among other items, the
representation of the shareholders and their voting rights.

The Board of Directors may cancel the registered shareholders or entries of
nominees in the share register retroactively to the date of entry should it be
apparent after a hearing that such entries were made based on falsified informa-
tion. The persons affected must be informed of said cancellation immediately.

Convertible bonds and options

Currently, there are no convertible bonds and options.

Board of Directors

Members of the Board of Directors

Information on the members of the Board of Directors and their other functions
and business interests are shown in the annual report on pages 4 and 5.

Election and term of office

The Board of Directors is comprised of at least five members, who are each elected
by the general shareholders’ meeting for a term of three financial years. Their
term of office expires on the date of the General Meeting for the last financial year
of their tenure. If elections to replace directors are held during the designated
term, the newly-elected directors shall serve the remaining tenure of their pre-
decessors. The General Meeting also elects the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
Other than that, the Board of Directors is responsible for organising itself.
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Name Function Member Term of Nomination and Business Journalism Audit

since office compensation development committee committee

committee committee

Pietro Supino Chairman 1991 2008 C C C

Robert Karrer Vice Chairman 1992 2008 C

Iwan Rickenbacher Member 1996 2008 M M

Karl Dietrich Seikel Member 1996 2008 M

Christina von Wackerbarth Member 2000 2008 M

Ueli Maurer Member 2002 2008 M

Konstantin Richter Member 2004 2008 M M

Andreas Schulthess Member 2007 2008 M M

Charles von Graffenried Member 2007 2008 M

C: Committee chairman
M: Member

Authorities

The Board of Directors is responsible for defining the Group strategy. It examines the
underlying plans and objectives defined for the company and identifies any external
risks and opportunities. The authorities and responsibilities of the Board of Directors
and its committees, as well as how it governs authorities within corporate manage-
ment, are stipulated in the Organisational Guidelines, which can be viewed online
at www.tamedia.ch1. Included in particular therein are the supervisory and control
functions for the Board of Directors supported directly by external parties as well as
the continuous and complete information of all members of the Board. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing and monitoring corporate
management. Corporate management informs the Board of Directors during its re-
gular meetings and upon special request with regard to the business developments
and the Group’s planned activities. Also in attendance at these meetings is the Chief
Executive Officer as well as with other members of executive management and
other members of the cadre group for any business matters of relevance to them. 

The full Board of Directors is informed by means of monthly, written reports
with regard to the consolidated monthly financial statements, business develop-
ments within the individual divisions and any additionally relevant business
issues. Each quarter, all members of the Board of Directors are provided written
information as pertains to the development of market share and every six months
a report is sent with an explanation of semi-annual and annual financial state-
ments. In addition, the Board of Directors also receives the minutes of meetings
held by corporate management as well as for those held by the four committees of

1 http://www.tamedia.ch/dyn/e/organisationsreglement/index.html

Internal organisation

The composition of the Board of Directors and the affiliation of its individual
members to other boards and committees are shown in the table below:
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the Board of Directors. Moreover, corporate management also informs the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors on a regular basis with regard to any incidents of par-
ticular significance.

Decision making

The Board of Directors is a quorum when the majority of its members are
present. It makes decisions based on a majority vote of the members present. In
the event of a tied vote, the Chairman’s vote is considered decisive. There are no
mandatory decision quorums. Also, decisions may be adopted in writing by
circular vote. 

Meetings

The Board of Directors meets as often as required by business or if a meeting is
requested by a member, at least, however, six times a year. During the reporting
year, the Board of Directors held six full-day meetings with a majority of
members and one three-day retreat along with corporate management.

Committees

In addition to the committees described below, the Board of Directors may form
other committees for specific functions. Members are appointed to committees in
conjunction with the organisational composition of the Board of Directors and by
following the same procedures. Generally, these committees do not make any
binding decisions, but instead report to all members of the Board of Directors,
when appropriate, submit proposals for decisions and guidelines and provide
corporate management with the necessary support for the realisation of such.

At this time, the following constant committees are in place:

•Nomination and compensation committee

•Business development committee

•Journalism committee

•Audit committee

These committees provide each member of the Board of Directors with meeting
agendas and minutes. The Chairman of each committee informs each member of the
Board of Directors orally with regard to the results of such meetings.

Nomination and compensation committee

The responsibility of the nomination and compensation committee is to see to
general human resources matters and in particular is responsible for preparing
nominations of members of the upper management level, which the Board of
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Directors is directly responsible for. It also deals with the qualification and
compensation of members of this cadre group using the general compensation
system and includes their participation in profit earnings.  Not included herein
are the editors-in-chief and the programme directors. Such are overseen by the
Journalism Committee.

It is made up of three members, which held four meetings during the reporting
year. Generally the Chief Executive Officer is in attendance at such meetings, each
dependent on the agenda items.

Business development committee

The business development committee attends to the preparation and support of
projects and agreements that the Board of Directors is responsible for, which have
to do with the Swiss media market and new business ideas. 

It is made up of three members. The committee held five meetings during the
reporting year. Generally, the Chief Executive Officer is in attendance at these
meetings, each dependent on the agenda items.

Journalism committee

The Journalism Committee deals with publication issues and nominates the edi-
tors-in-chief and the programme directors. It also deals with the qualification and
compensation of members of this cadre group. The Journalism Committee is
responsible in particular for the regular journalistic discussions with the editors-
in-chief and also concerns itself with promoting next-generation talent and
publication projects.

It is made up of four members, which held three meetings during the reporting
year. Generally the Chief Executive Officer is in attendance at such meetings, each
dependent on the agenda items.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee oversees the financial reporting, compliance with
accounting and reporting standards and with the SWX Swiss Exchange listing
rules, risk management and the internal controlling functions, financial corpor-
ate communication and observance of legal oversight obligations (ad-hoc
publicity) as well as any extraordinary accounting events. 

In addition, the Audit Committee also represents the Board of Directors as
liaison with external statutory auditors and monitors and assesses their work
and independence on an ongoing basis. For this purpose, the Audit Committee
reviews the reports required by law that are prepared by the statutory auditors
and also the reports pertaining to any significant findings from the interim and
final audits. In addition, the committee is informed orally by the statutory
auditors, the Chief Financial Officer and other cadre group members from the
finance division with regard to the progress of the audit preparations. The fees
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for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the individual finan-
cial statements are approved by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is comprised of at least three (at this time four) 
members. The Chairman of the Board of Directors may not be a member of said
committee. Meetings are held regularly, at least four times a year, and generally
the Chief Financial Officer is in attendance (as the representative of corporate
management) and the statutory auditors. For specific matters, the audit
committee calls in outside experts when needed. During the reporting year, the
Audit Committee held four half-day meetings at each of which the Chief Finan-
cial Officer and representatives of the statutory auditors were in attendance.

Management Board

Members of the Management Board

Information regarding the members of the company’s Management Board and
their other functions and business interests are shown in the annual report on
page 8.

Management contracts

During the year under review, there were no management contracts between
Tamedia and companies or private individuals for the transfer of management
responsibilities for Tamedia.

Compensation report: Compensation, shareholdings and loans

Content and method of determining compensation and shareholding programmes

The Board of Directors makes decisions with regard to compensation, shares and
loans granted to both the Management Board and the Board of Directors. Fees for
Board members are determined by the Board itself. Management compensation
is determined based on recommendations to the Board of Directors made by the
Chief Executive Officer. In order to obtain and retain persons with the necessary
capabilities and character traits, compensation is determined by considering both
market conditions and performance factors.

The Board of Directors’ fees and fees paid to the members of the Executive
Committee are fixed amounts. In addition, cash expenditures are reimbursed.

Compensation of corporate management is made up of a fixed amount and a
variable component (profit-sharing), which is based on quantative and qualitative
personal goals set in advance along with goals set for the individual divisions as
well as the consolidated EBIT.

In addition, a supplementary bonus is granted, which is made dependent on
Tamedia Group’s pre-tax earnings (see the footnote in Note 44).

In compliance with the usual social security and legal requirements, the
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members of the Management Board are provided with social security, life insur-
ance and disability insurance. Two employment contracts exist, each with a
notice period of more than 18 months. One contract is fixed until the end of 
2008 and another one until the end of 2010. After such fixed times, usual notice
periods apply. 

Compensation to active and former members of the Board of Directors and the

Management Board

Compensation to active and former members of the Board of Directors and the
Management Board can be found in notes 43 and 44 of the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Share allotments and ownership 

The shares and share options for Tamedia AG allotted to active and former members
of the Board of Directors and the Management Board can also be found in note 44.

Additional fees and remuneration

Remuneration and compensation to active and former members of the Board of
Directors and the Management Board can be found in notes 43 and 44 of the con-
solidated financial statement.

Loans to board members

As of balance sheet date, there were no outstanding loans to active and former
members of the Board of Directors and the Management Board.

Highest total compensation

The highest total compensation is listed in the details in note 44 of the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Shareholders’ participation rights

Restrictions on voting rights and representation

A shareholder may directly or indirectly exercise or cause to have exercised voting
rights associated with his/her own shares or share he/she represents up to max-
imum of 5 per cent of the total number of shares registered in the commercial re-
gister. When doing so, legal entities and partnerships, which are bound or affilia-
ted in terms of capital and voting rights by a common management or in any other
form, as well as individuals, legal entities and partnerships acting in concert or in
view of circumventing the provision at hand shall be considered to be one person.
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Institutional voting rights representatives as understood in accordance with Art.
689c of the Swiss Code of Obligations (depository representative, representatives
of the boards and independent voting rights representatives) are exempted from
this restriction of voting power as long as the provisions of the by-laws as referred
to in the previous paragraph have been adhered to by the owner(s).  

Shareholders registered with more than 5 per cent of the voting rights in the
share register are exempted from the aforementioned restriction of voting power.

Statutory quorums

According to the Articles of Association governing Tamedia AG, the shareholders’
meeting makes decisions and conducts elections based on an absolute majority of
represented voting rights. For the following decisions, a minimum of two-thirds
majority of the represented voting rights and the absolute majority of the repre-
sented share capital are required: Change in the company’s purpose, introduction
of voting shares, restrictions on transferability of registered shares, approved or
conditional capital increases, capital increase through shareholders’ equity,
contributions in kind or for the purpose of an asset takeover or to grant particular
advantages, restriction or cancellation of drawing rights, transfer of the company’s
registered office and dissolution of the company without liquidation.

Calling the General Meeting

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is held annually within six months following
the end of the company’s financial year. Extraordinary shareholders’ meetings
are called as needed. Likewise, in addition to the statutory auditors, one or more
shareholders, who combined represent at least 10 per cent of the company’s
share capital, may demand a general meeting be called in writing by indicating
the subject of the matters to be discussed and proposals to be made.  

The General Meeting is called by the Board of Directors no later than 20 days
prior to the scheduled date of the meeting. The shareholders are notified via
Tamedia’s normal publications (see further information in section “Information
policy” on page 117).     

Agenda

Shareholders, who combined hold shares having a nominal value of CHF 1000000
may request that a matter of discussion be included in the agenda. The agenda must
be submitted at least 60 days prior to the General Meeting in writing with an indi-
cation of the subject to be discussed. 

Registration in share register 

All shareholders registered with voting rights in the share register are entitled
to take part and have voting power at the General Meeting. For organisational
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reasons, the deadline for registering to take part at the General Meeting will
expire 20 days prior to the meeting. Shareholders, who have sold their shares
prior to the General Meeting, no longer have any voting rights.

Changes of control and defence measures

In accordance with the Swiss Federal Stock Exchange and Securities Trading Act,
whoever directly, indirectly or acting in concert with third parties, acquires
equity securities, which, when added to equity securities already owned, exceed
a threshold of 33.3 per cent of the overall voting rights of a target company,
whether or not said voting rights may be exercised, must make an offer to the
remaining shareholders to acquire all of the company’s equity securities listed
on the stock market. The company may define in its Articles of Association before
publicly offering its equity securities that a transferee is not required to make a
public sales offer of this kind (opting-out). Tamedia AG’s Articles of Association
do not foresee any such opting-out. Similarly, there are no clauses governing
changes in control.

Statutory Auditors

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the partner in charge of the audit

The statutory auditors are each appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting for a
period of one year.

Ernst & Young AG accepted the mandate as auditors of the consolidated finan-
cial statements for the first time for the financial year 1993. The unconsolidated
financial statements of Tamedia AG have been audited by Ernst & Young AG since
1936. Mr. Felix Ort took up the position of managing auditor for the first time
for the financial year 2002.

Audit Fee

The total amount of fees to be paid for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and the individual financial statements amounted to CHF 0.7 million
(previous year: 0.6 million), of which CHF 0.6 million relate to expenses for the
audit performed by Ernst&Young AG.

Additional Fees

The total in fees paid to Ernst & Young and/or persons associated with said
company for any additional financial consulting services amounted to CHF 0.2
million (previous year: CHF 0.1 million ).
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Supervisory and control instruments vis-à-vis the auditors

The composition of the supervisory and control instruments used by the Board
of Directors to assess the external statutory auditors is described in the section
“Board of Directors – Audit Committee”. The system of rotation governing the
tenure of the partner in charge of the audit is seven years at the most in
compliance with the impartiality guidelines set forth by the Chamber of
Trustees. A regular rotation of the statutory auditors is not foreseen.

Information policy

Information policy and the obligation to ad hoc publicity

Tamedia follows an open and timely information policy by which all target
groups in the capital market are treated equally. Detailed annual and semi-annual
reports are published. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS standards (International Financial Reporting Standards), see
“Principles of consolidated financial statements” on pages 42 to 50).

An agenda including the date of the Annual General Meeting and the date of
publication of the semi-annual report can be found on page 36.

Tamedia AG’s Articles of Association can be viewed online at www.tamedia.ch1.

As a listed company, Tamedia is also obligated to inform the public of any infor-
mation relevant to the trading of its shares (ad hoc publicity, Art. 72 Listing
Rules). In addition to information on the financial progress, Tamedia also pro-
vides information regularly on any current changes and developments.

For more detailed information on the company, visit our website at www.tamedia.ch.
The official publication used for public announcements made by the company
and such required by law is the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce.

The contact person for specific questions about Tamedia is:

Tamedia AG
Christoph Zimmer
Head of Corporate Communications
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich, Switzerland
Phone: +41 1 248 41 35
Fax: +41 1 248 50 26
Email: christoph.zimmer@tamedia.ch

1 www.tamedia.ch/medienlinks/0/930.pdf
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Tamedia
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 41 11
Fax: 044 248 50 61
www.tamedia.ch
info@tamedia.ch

20 Minuten
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 307 42 42
Fax: 044 307 42 41
www.20minuten.ch
verlag@20minuten.ch

20 Minuten Basle
Marktgasse 8 
4003 Basle
Phone: 061 264 71 82
Fax: 061 264 71 81 
www.20minuten.ch
verlag.basel@20minuten.ch

20 Minuten Berne
Güterstrasse 8 
3008 Berne
Phone: 031 384 28 20
Fax: 031 384 28 25
www.20minuten.ch
verlag.bern@20minuten.ch

20 Minuten Lucerne
Rütligasse 1a 
6003 Lucerne
Phone: 041 227 40 27
Fax: 041 227 40 21
www.20minuten.ch
verlag.Lucerne@20minuten.ch 

20 Minuten St. Gall
Brühlgasse 15 
9000 St. Gall
Phone: 071 226 86 20
Fax: 071 226 86 26
www.20minuten.ch
verlag.sg@20minuten.ch

20 minutes Lausanne
1, rue de Sébeillon
1004 Lausanne
Phone: 021 621 87 87
Fax: 021 621 87 88
www.20minutes.ch
publicite@20minutes.ch

20 minutes Geneva
7, av. Krieg
1211 Geneva 17
Phone: 022 839 86 86
Fax: 022 839 86 87
www.20minutes.ch
publicite@20minutes.ch

Alpha
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 10 10
Fax: 044 248 10 55
www.alpha.ch
info@alpha.ch

Annabelle
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 63 33
Fax: 044 248 62 18
www.annabelle.ch
verlag@annabelle.ch

Anzeiger von Kerzers
Bahnhofstrasse 1
3210 Kerzers (FR) 
Phone: 031 756 07 47
Fax: 031 756 07 50
anzeigervonkerzers@bluewin.ch

Automobil Revue/Revue Automobile
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 11
Fax: 031 330 30 56
www.automobilrevue.ch / 
www.revueautomobile.ch
fachmedien@buechler-grafino.ch

Bantiger Post
Bernstrasse 34
3072 Ostermundigen
Phone: 031 931 15 01
Fax: 031 931 02 54
bantigerpost@bluewin.ch
www.bantigerpost.ch

Belcom
Limmatstrasse 183
8031 Zurich
Phone: 044 448 25 25
Fax: 044 448 25 90
www.belcom.ch
info@belcom.ch

Benteli Hallwag Druck AG
Seftigenstrasse 310
3084 Wabern
Phone: 031 960 81 81
Fax: 031 961 74 04
www.bentelihallwag.ch
info@bentelihallwag.ch

Berner Bär
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 35 55
Fax: 031 330 33 77
www.bernerbaer.ch
verlag@bernerbaer.ch

Berner Oberländer
Rampenstrasse 1
3602 Thun
Phone: 033 225 15 15
Fax: 033 225 15 00
www.bo.espace.ch
abo-espace@espacemedia.ch

Berner Oberländer
Redaktion Interlaken
Bahnhofstrasse 20 
3800 Interlaken
Phone: 033 828 80 40
Fax: 033 828 80 49
www.bo.espace.ch
abo-espace@espacemedia.ch

Berner Zeitung
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 11
Fax: 031 332 77 24
www.bernerzeitung.ch
abo-espace@espacemedia.ch

Berner Zeitung
Redaktion Burgdorf
Poststrasse 10 
3400 Burgdorf
Phone: 034 409 34 34
Fax: 034 409 34 30

Berner Zeitung
Redaktion Langenthal
Sankt Urbanstrasse 22 
4900 Langenthal
Phone: 062 919 44 44
Fax: 062 919 44 40

BEVO AG
Zentweg 5
3006 Berne
Phone: 031 330 32 56
Fax: 031 330 35 34
info@bevo.ch

Büchler Grafino AG
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 39 39
Fax: 031 330 39 30
www.buechler-grafino.ch
verlag@buechler-grafino.ch

Bümpliz Woche
Bümplizstrasse 101
3018 Berne
Phone: 031 991 44 33
Fax: 031 991 55 33
ruedi.lehmann@Bernerbaer.ch

CapitalFM
Nägeligasse 3
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 327 11 11
Fax: 031 327 11 46
www.capitalfm.espace.ch
info@capitalfm.ch

conRadio-TV AG
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 32
Fax: 031 330 31 12
www.conradio-tv.ch
info@conradio-tv.ch

Das Magazin
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 45 01
Fax: 044 248 44 87
www.dasmagazin.ch
redaktion@dasmagazin.ch

Der Bund
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 11
Fax: 031 330 36 86
www.eBund.ch
verlag@Bernerzeitung.ch

Der Murtenbieter
Bernstrasse 15
3280 Murten
Phone: 026 672 97 00
Fax: 026 672 97 01
www.murtenbieter.ch
verlag@murtenbieter.ch

Espace Media Groupe
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 11
Fax: 031 330 34 74
www.espacemedia.ch
sekretariat-kl@espacemedia.ch

Finanz und Wirtschaft
Hallwylstrasse 71
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 298 35 35
Fax: 044 298 35 00
www.finanzinfo.ch
redaktion@fuw.ch

Huber & Co. AG
Promenadenstrasse 16
8501 Frauenfeld
Phone: 052 723 55 11
Fax: 052 723 55 30
www.huber.ch
info@huber.ch

Contacts Adresses
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L’essentiel
38, avenue Charlotte
4530 Differdange
Luxembourg
Phone: +352 26 58 66 -1
Fax: +352 26 58 66 -628
www.lessentiel.lu
luxembourg@lessentiel.lu

Moto Sport Schweiz/Suisse
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 31 11
Fax: 031 330 30 56
www.motosport.ch / 
www.motosportsuisse.ch
fachmedien@buechler-grafino.ch

News
NP News Print AG
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 56 80
Fax: 044 248 56 60
www.newsprint.ch
verlag@newsprint.ch

Radio 24
Limmatstrasse 183
8031 Zurich
Phone: 044 448 24 24
Fax: 044 448 24 90
www.radio24.ch
info@radio24.ch

Regional-Zeitung Hinterthurgau
Bahnhofstrasse 55
8360 Eschlikon
Phone: 052 723 59 60
Fax: 052 723 59 72
www.regionalzeitung.ch
verlag@regionalzeitung.ch

Schweizer Bauer
Dammweg 9
3001 Berne
Phone: 031 330 34 44
Fax: 031 330 33 95
www.schweizerbauer.ch
info@schweizerbauer.ch

Schweizer Familie
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 60 60
Fax: 044 248 60 96
www.schweizerfamilie.ch
verlag@schweizerfamilie.ch

Solothurner Tagblatt
Hauptgasse 14
4502 Solothurn 
Phone: 032 625 22 11
Fax: 032 625 22 22
www.solothurnertagblatt.ch
redaktion@solothurnertagblatt.ch

Solothurner Woche
Hauptgasse 14
4502 Solothurn
Phone: 032 622 89 80
Fax: 032 622 97 44
www.solothurnerwoche.ch
info@solothurnerwoche.ch

SonntagsZeitung
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 40 40
Fax: 044 242 47 83
www.sonntagszeitung.ch
verlag@sonntagszeitung.ch

Tagblatt der Stadt Zürich
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 42 11
Fax: 044 248 65 12
www.tagblattzuerich.ch
verlag@tagblattzuerich.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 44 11
Fax: 044 248 44 71
www.tages-anzeiger.ch
verlag@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Regionalausgabe für das linke
Seeufer und das Sihltal
Seestrasse 104
8820 Wädenswil
Phone: 044 783 85 00
Fax: 044 783 85 01
www.tages-anzeiger.ch/horgen
redaktion-horgen@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Ausgabe Stadt Zürich
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 44 77
Fax: 044 248 45 09
www.tages-anzeiger.ch/zuerich
stadt@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Regionalausgabe Zürcher Oberland
Zürichstrasse 7
8610 Uster
Phone: 044 905 82 50
Fax: 044 905 82 51
www.tagesanzeiger.ch/oberland
oberland@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Regionalausgabe Zürcher Unterland
Zürichstrasse 5
8180 Bülach
Phone: 044 864 85 50
Fax: 055 864 85 51
www.tagesanzeiger.ch/unterland
unterland@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tages-Anzeiger
Regionalausgabe Zürichsee, 
rechtes Seeufer
Grundstrasse 4
8712 Stäfa
Phone: 044 915 89 50
Fax: 044 915 89 51
www.tages-anzeiger.ch/staefa
staefa@tages-anzeiger.ch

Tele Bärn
Grünaustrasse 3
3084 Wabern
Phone: 031 960 83 33
Fax: 031 960 83 78
www.telebaern.espace.ch
info@telebaern.ch

TeleZüri
Heinrichstrasse 267
8005 Zurich
Phone: 044 447 24 24
Fax: 044 447 24 25
www.telezueri.ch
info@telezueri.ch

Thuner Tagblatt
Rampenstrasse 1
3602 Thun
Phone: 033 225 15 15
Fax: 033 225 15 00
www.tt.espace.ch

Thurgauer Zeitung
Promenadenstrasse 16
8501 Frauenfeld
Phone: 052 723 55 11
Fax: 052 723 57 57
www.thurgauerzeitung.ch
abo@thurgauerzeitung.ch

TV täglich
Werdstrasse 21
Postfach
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 41 11
Fax: 044 248 50 61

Züritipp
Werdstrasse 21
8021 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 44 11
Fax: 044 248 45 06

Zuvo
Zustell- und Vertriebsorganisation AG
Bubenbergstrasse 1
8045 Zurich
Phone: 044 248 48 40
Fax: 044 248 50 88
www.zuvo.ch
administration@zuvo.ch

Internet

www.20minuten.ch
www.20minutes.ch
www.alpha.ch
www.annabelle.ch
www.bantigerpost.ch
www.dasmagazin.ch
www.ebund.ch
www.espace.ch
www.espacemedia.ch
www.facts.ch
www.fuw.ch
www.homegate.ch
www.jobwinner.ch
www.lessentiel.lu
www.newsprint.ch
www.partnerwinner.ch

www.piazza.ch 
www.radio24.ch
www.regionalzeitung.ch
www.schweizerbauer.ch
www.schweizerfamilie.ch
www.sonntagszeitung.ch
www.tagblattzuerich.ch
www.tages-anzeiger.ch
www.tamedia.ch
www.tamedia-stellenmarkt.ch
www.telebaern.ch
www.telezueri.ch
www.thunertagblatt.ch
www.thurgauerzeitung.ch
www.tilllate.ch
www.zueritipp.ch
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Contacts Imprints

Project management, overall editing Corporate Communications Tamedia
Coordination with the Board Secretary General’s Office
Concept and design Nose Applied Intelligence, Zurich
Photography Thomas Burla
Typesetting and typography Tamedia Production Services
Proofreading Tamedia 
Printing Druckerei Flawil

Please order your copy of the Annual Report from
Tamedia AG, Corporate Communications, Werdstrasse 21, CH-8021 Zurich, phone +41 (0)44 248 41 90, 
Fax +41 (0)44 248 50 26, kommunikation@tamedia.ch, www.tamedia.ch
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